
Summons to Meeting

Monday 3 December 2018

Development Panel
Tuesday 11 December 2018, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
Site Visit  
The following site visit will take place:

2/2017/0246 Land East of Main Road, High Harrington – Construction of 115 
residential dwellings, with associated parking, access and landscaping

Members of the Development Panel will be picked up from Allerdale House, 
Workington. The bus will leave at 11:00am.

1. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 10)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 13/11/2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

Page 1



3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

5. Development Panel- HOU/2018/0161 43 Curzon Street, Maryport- 
Replacement windows and doors  (Pages 11 - 18)

6. Development Panel- 2/2017/0246- Land East of Main Road, High Harrington- 
Construction of 115 residential dwellings with associated parking, access 
and landscaping  (Pages 19 - 60)

7. Development Panel- 2/2018/0097 Langrigg Hall, Langrigg- Change of use of 
farm building to biomass CHP unit with associated chimneys 
(retrospective)  (Pages 61 - 76)

8. Development Panel- 2/2018/0098 Langrigg Hall, Langrigg- Erection of 
replacement general purpose shed (retrospective for its retention)  (Pages 
77 - 86)

9. Development Panel- 2/2018/0400 North Scape, Eaglesfield, Cockermouth- 
Erection of detached dwelling and garage  (Pages 87 - 102)

10. Development Panel- 2/2018/0485 The Annexe, The Anville, Bliterlees, 
Silloth- Retrospective application for a raised lodge with balcony to be 
used for holiday letting purposes and addition of boundary treatment  
(Pages 103 - 112)

11. Development Panel- 2/2018/0469 Land adj Ellenhall, Gilcrux- New field 
access to classified road (C2023)  (Pages 113 - 122)

12. Development Panel- 2/2018/0447 Former Cottage Hospital, Cockermouth- 
Application for non compliance with condition 2 on planning approval 
2/2017/0579. Changes to the apartment mix, changing 3 No. one bed 
apartments to 3 No. two bed apartment  (Pages 123 - 144)

Page 2



Deputy Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 22 January 2019, 1.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 13 November 2018 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Joseph Cowell Councillor Anthony Markley
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong, Councillor 
Janet Farebrother, Councillor Malcolm Grainger and Councillor Mark Jenkinson

Staff Present

L Jardine, S Long, G Roach, S Sewell, S Sharp and R Wilkinson

Also Present

V Hodgson

231. Minutes 

Councillor T Annison moved an amendment to minute number 209, 

‘Following member discussion and the questions raised to the speakers, 
Councillor M Jenkinson moved refusal on the grounds that the application for 
the development was contrary to policy S25 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 
2014.

To 

‘Following member discussion and the questions raised to the speakers, 
Councillor T Annison moved refusal on the grounds that the application for the 
development was contrary to policy S25 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 
2014. This was seconded by Councillor Wilson.

A vote was taken, 11 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 abstentions. The motion was 
carried.

Resolved

The minutes of the meeting held on 16th October 2018 were then signed as a 
correct record, subject to the agreed amendment.

232. Declaration of Interests 

None Declared

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



233. Questions 

None Received

234. Development Panel- 2/2018/0397 Land adjacent to Rigg Top, Coldgill 
Avenue, Gt Broughton- Erection of detached dwelling with detached glass 
house 

Representations

Mr Roger Elliott spoke against the application

Mr Ken Thompson spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended granting permission subject to conditions.

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues within the 
report as follows:

 Principle of the development and application of the tilted balance
 Highways
 Design
 Visual Impact

The application site related to a corner plot off Coldgill Avenue which is located 
on the south western edge of Broughton village.
The site is Greenfield but it is fenced off from the adjoining field. Coldgill Avenue 
comprises as a series of terraced houses on its northern side which occupies 
an elevated position above the highway. On the southern side two modern 
properties have been constructed and a further outline consent has been 
granted for an additional dwelling on the intervening vacant plot.
The site is located outside the designated settlement limit and, as with the three 
dwellings previously approved, would constitute a departure. 

However, with the housing supply position explained in the report and weight 
afforded to housing supply policies, members were asked to apply the tilted 
balance in paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and the officers and debate followed 
relating to the settlement boundaries and the local plan.

In the ensuing debate, Councillor Cockburn suggested that the tilted balance 
could be concluded differently and opined that there were significant and 
demonstrable adverse impacts that outweighed the benefit of providing just a 
single dwelling. Officers confirmed that it was possible for members to reach a 
different conclusions based upon the assessment against the development plan 
policies that retained full weight and the provisions of the NPPF. However, 

Page 6



officers reiterated that meaningful weight should not be applied to the 1999 
Local Plan settlement limits or the provisions of the untested draft Part 2 Local 
Plan.

Councillor Cockburn then moved a motion to refuse on the grounds that the 
application constituted non-essential development, that the site was on a 
greenfield site, outside settlement limits and that there would be an adverse 
visual effect to the local landscape. This motion was seconded by Councillor 
Wilson. 

A vote was taken on the motion for refusal, 6 voted in favour, 4 voted against 
and 1 abstention.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

Refused

Reason for Refusal

“The dwelling constitutes non-essential development outside of the settlement 
limits in the 1999 Allerdale Local Plan as referred to in the Allerdale Local Plan 
Part 1 2014 and the Pre-submission Draft of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 
2018 and is on a site that is greenfield and relates more to open countryside. 
Policy S33 “Landscape” of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 also requires 
landscape character and local distinctiveness to be protected, conserved and, 
where possible, enhanced. It will neither enhance nor restore the existing open 
landscape character. The scheme is considered to have a significant adverse 
effect on the landscape by reason of its siting, creating urban creep into the 
countryside causing an adverse visual impact.”

 

235. Development Panel- 2/2018/0454 Pear Tree Farm, Bowness on Solway- 
Change of use of utility and storage rooms into a small tea room 

Representations

Mr Richard Cuckson, and the applicant Mr Steve Marshall spoke in support of 
the application. 

Councillor Vaughan Hodgson spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended that the panel refuse the application.

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues within the 
report as follows:

 Principle

Page 7



 Parking and Turning
 Design and Material
 Historic Environment and Conservation area
 Economic Benefits

The application site is located within the centre of Bowness. Due to the nature 
of the proposal, officers considered that the primary planning consideration was 
the economic benefits of the proposed land use against any environmental 
harm deriving from highway issues.
Officers accepted that there would be economic benefits to the proposed 
scheme, and that it would act as a tourist facility within the village and a 
destination for walkers and cyclists using the Hadrian’s Wall recreational routes, 
thus contributing to the tourist economy. It was accepted that the scale of 
activity had been reduced through the omission of the bunk barn. Consideration 
had been given to the 12 covers extent of the proposal.
Officers acknowledged that the type of land use itself was compatible with its 
residential surroundings subject to securing environmental health conditions.  

Officers advised that was targeting the walkers/cyclists along the route of the 
wall, this was not guaranteed and there would remain the potential for its use by 
people visiting the area by car. Members were referred to the concerns of the 
County Highways Officer. 
The merits of this individual scheme were finely balanced especially given the 
limited scale of the works. However, despite the reduced scale of the operation 
the highway authority maintain their objections. In the light of these comments, 
although officers had explored options to alleviate the concerns, the scheme 
remained unacceptable and therefore was recommended for refusal.

Members then asked questions of the speakers in relation to access, car 
parking and the highway access.

In the ensuing debate, members discussed the weight afforded to the economic 
benefits of the proposal and its harm to the conservation area. Of specific 
consideration was whether the balance changed if the proposal was limited to 
12 covers. 

Officers sought clarification that members considered it necessary to limit the 
use to 12 covers. 

Councillor Markley then moved a motion to approve the application on the 
grounds that the creation of a small tea room will benefit tourism, boost the local 
economy and enhance the Solway AONB subject to a condition limiting to use 
to 12 covers.
The motion was seconded by Councillor Annison.

Officers and members then discussed the local plan, the local economy and the 
impact on the highway.

A vote was taken on the motion, 8 voted in favour of the motion, 3 voted against 
the motion and 0 abstentions. 

The motion was carried.

Page 8



Resolution

Approve

Reason for granting permission

“The development will provide significant benefits to the economy specifically in 
relation to tourism and the Solway Coast AONB. The impact to heritage assets 
will be less than substantial, including Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site and 
the Bowness on Solway Conservation Area. The benefits outweigh the less 
than substantial impacts and the proposal is considered in all respects to accord 
with policies S1, S14 and S17 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014, the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework and has been considered 
against the duties in the Listed Buildings Act 1990.”

The meeting closed at 2.45 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application HOU/2018/0161

Proposed 
Development:

Replacement windows and doors

Location: 43
Curzon Street
Maryport

Applicant: Mr Allen Hewetson Jones
Ministry Of Defence

Recommendation: Grant subject to conditions 

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Heritage  The proposal will now preserve the character and appearance of 
the designated conservation area. There will be negligible harm to 
the significance of this designated heritage asset.

Introduction

Members may recall that this application was deferred at the September 2018 meeting of 
this Panel to enable the required details to be sought from the applicant to give 
assurances to the Council that the development will preserve the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. 

Proposal 

Full planning permission is sought for the replacement of existing wooden single glazed 
& double UPVC windows into double and triple glazed UPVC windows. The proposal 
also includes the replacement of existing timber basement door to the front elevation and 
replacement of UPVC and timber door to the rear with UPVC doors.  

Site

The site compromises of a 3 storey traditional terraced dwelling with basement level on 
the east side of Curzon Street within Maryport’s Conservation Area. The site is also 
protected by an Article 4 direction. 

Relevant Planning History

None 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Representations

Maryport Town Council 

No Objections, subject to design. Site visit requested

Cumbria County Highways

No comments to make 

Other representations

A site notice has been erected, adjoining owners have been notified and a press notice   
placed in local newspaper. Following this, no further representations have been received 
to date.  

Duties 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states 
that:
 
“In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of any 
powers under any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall 
be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area.’

Development Plan policies 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014

           DM15 - Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties
           S2 - Sustainable development principles
           S27 - Heritage Assets
           S32 - Safeguarding amenity  

Other material considerations

National Planning Policy Framework 2018 

           16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance 

Page 12



Duties and policy weighting 

Annex 2 of the NPPF 2018 defines designated heritage assets as:-

“A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck Site, 
Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area designated 
under the relevant legislation.” 

The Maryport Conservation Area is therefore a designated heritage asset, the Authority 
having a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of this area.1

Policy S27 of the Local Plan advises that the Council will work with partners to seek the 
conservation and enhancement of all designated or non-designated heritage assets 
within the Plan Area. In determining applications that affect the significance of a heritage 
asset, the following factors will be taken into account:-

 The level of significance of the heritage asset.
 The impact of the proposal on the significance of the asset.
 How the significance of the asset could be better revealed.
 Opportunities for mitigating climate change without damaging significance.

Only proposals which do not harm any positive qualities of the heritage assets will be 
approved unless there is a clear and convincing public benefit that will outweigh the harm 
caused. This criterion of policy S27 has general consistency with the provisions of the 
revised NPPF, despite predating the latter by 4 years. Paragraph 196 of the revised 
NPPF advises:-

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.”

Criterion a) of policy DM15 is more generic, but still applicable in terms of the 
requirement for the design and materials of the development not to adversely alter the 
appearance of the building. It is consistent with paragraph 130 of the NPPF as is the 9th 
bullet point of the environmental sustainability principles of policy S2. 

Assessment 

Significance 

Curzon Street is Maryport’s main thoroughfare (A594) and, due to the relatively heavy 
traffic flows, slowed or momentarily halted by traffic lights, the buildings that line the 
street prominently define the character and appearance of this area of the town.

The terraces on the eastern side of the street were mostly built as large residential 

1 S72 Listed Buildings Act 1990. 

Page 13



properties, they have distinctive architectural detailing including rock faced sandstone, 
cornices and dentils, carved sandstone window surrounds, with cornices and other 
decorative detail.   Most of the first floor windows, including those at no 43, have arched 
top sashes which are a particularly distinctive architectural detail within the street.

There are some subtle variations; most have ground floor canted bay windows, but not 
all. Some have gabled dormers breaking the wall plate, others have hipped roofs. 
However, the terraces clearly read as a group and were planned as such with the 
common era of origin, facing materials, building lines and architectural language. What is 
most evident is the originality of the terraces; the completeness of the original 
appearance and detailing.

This originality of theses terraces on the east side of Curzon Street contributes 
substantially to the significance of the Maryport conservation area. Indeed, in terms of the 
Victorian terraces within the town, these are the most original. The survival of timber 
vertical sliding sash windows is fundamental to this significance, protected by the article 4 
direction.

The rear elevation is much less prominent. The passageway serving the rear gardens 
and yards is adopted but it is clear that interventions and change have characterised the 
view from this receptor. The limited views and secondary, subservient nature of these 
elevations mean that there contribution to the overall significance of the asset is far more 
limited. 

Impact and harm

The existing timber windows within the ground floor bay and upper floors on the front 
elevation are devoid of glazing bars but, nevertheless, have an architectural finesse. The 
frame and transom are simple but fine in section, the sashes also including cyma 
moulded horns. 

Since the September meeting of the Panel the Council have received clarity that some of 
the clumsy architectural details previously proposed are now not part of the submission. 
Further detailed specifications have also been received as to what is proposed. These 
include the assurances that:-

 The proposed windows will not have glazing bars.
 The cill is flush to the frame.
 The external face of the window frames will be in the same position as that of the 

existing frame face i.e it will not project over the angled face of the existing cills.
 The gaskets seals around the glass are white in colour to match the frames.

These details ensure that the harm arising from the proposal will be negligible and that 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area will be preserved.

Public benefits

Page 14



There is very little public benefit arising from the proposal. There is a common perception 
that plastics windows can assist in providing better thermal efficiency for the home but 
there is no robust evidence to suggest that this is the case in comparison to a timber 
window with modern draught proofing inserted or, if it can be justified, a new timber sash 
window with the same level of finesse and craftsmanship as the original. Furthermore, 
there are also the embedded energy costs associated with the production of a 
replacement plastic window. As such there are no benefits of mitigating climate change 
arising from the proposal.
However, it is accepted that the proposal represents investment in the fabric of a dwelling 
within a prominent terrace in Maryport and such, continued, sensitive investment can 
serve as a catalyst for encouraging similar investment thereby enhancing the overall 
character and appearance of the area.

Balance and conclusions 

The proposal will preserve the character and appearance of the designated conservation 
area. There is negligible harm arising from the proposal and this harm is outweighed by 
the, albeit modest, public benefits. The proposal would accord with policies S2, DM15 
and S27 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014) and the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have no 
local financial consideration.

Page 15



Annex 1

Conditions/reasons

Time limit 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

Approved plans/details 

2. The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved plans 
as revised by the specification received in the email from Alan Boyd at 17.50 
on 15th November 2018. For the avoidance of doubt the development shall 
include the following:-

 The windows will not have glazing bars.
 The integral cill is flush to the frame.
 The external face of the window frames will be in the same position as 

that of the existing frame face i.e it will not project over the angled face 
of the existing cills. 

 The gaskets seals around the glass are white in colour to match the 
frames.

 The existing masonry cills, mullions and lintels will be retained. 
 The exposed width of the new frame will be no greater than existing.

Reason: To ensure the character and appearance of the Maryport Conservation 
Area is preserved and to accord with policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 
(2014).

Page 16



Location plan

P
age 17



P
age 18



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2017/0246

Proposed 
Development:

Construction of 115 residential dwellings with associated parking, 
access and landscaping

Location: Land East of
Main Road
High Harrington
Workington

Applicant: Mr David Hayward
Story Homes

Recommendation: Grant, subject to conditions and the signing of a legal agreement 
to include:

Affordable housing provision (16 social rent units, 7 
discounted sale units). 

Commuted Sum for the ongoing monitoring of a Travel Plan 
(£6600.00)

Should the legal agreement not be satisfactorily completed in a 
timely manner, then it is requested that the powers to refuse the 
proposal be delegated to the Head of Service, on the basis that 
those measures necessary to make the development acceptable in 
policy terms have not been secured through the necessary legal 
agreement. 

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle High Harrington lies within the Principle Service Centre for the 
Borough within the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (ALPP1), to which 
the major new development is directed, including the largest 
proportion of new housing. The provision of an additional 115 
dwellings would contribute to and not exceed the requirement to 
be provided by the Principle Centre, and as a draft allocation with 
Part 2, it would not adversely impact on balance of the settlement 
hierarchy.  Whilst the proposal lies outside the existing settlement 
boundary, it is acknowledged that these boundaries are out of date 
and pending review. As the proposal adjoins the existing 
settlement boundary to the west, north and east, it is considered 
that the proposal is well related to the existing settlement. This 
scale of development is considered to be appropriate to the size of 
the settlement and the role it has been allocated as the Principle 
Centre within the adopted ALPP1.

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



Benefits The provision of 115 houses would contribute to strategic objective 
SO2c of the ALPP2, which seeks to ensure a deliverable supply of 
housing land that meets the needs of the community and local 
economy, as well as the Council Plan in terms of strengthening our 
economy - supporting the development of new homes where they 
are needed. 
The proposal would provide for 23 additional affordable houses for 
social rent and discounted sale, increasing access to affordable 
housing, in accordance with strategic objective SO2d of the ALPP1 
and the Council Plan’s priority of tackling inequality through the 
provision of more affordable housing.   

Sustainability, 
Access, Highway 
Network, Parking

The site is considered to have good access to a regular bus and 
rail route and can connect to a national cycle route.  Lit pedestrian 
footpaths exist to the north and south of the site, albeit some 
walkers may be discouraged by distance and the busy A597. 
Overall, the site is considered to be sustainable, given the level of 
access for pedestrians, cyclists and the proximity of a regular bus 
and train route.
The proposal is considered to provide adequate access 
arrangements and no concerns are raised by the Local Highways 
Authority in terms of impact on the adjacent road network. No 
concerns are raised by the Highways Agency with respect to the 
trunk road. 
The parking provision is considered to be acceptable having 
regard to the County Council’s Design Guide. 

Flood 
Risk/Drainage

Subject to conditions to secure a drainage scheme that accords 
with the principles of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment, then 
no concerns are raised by the Local Lead Flood Authority or 
United Utilities. Using a range of attenuation measures including 
an on-site pond, run-off will be restricted to the greenfield run-off 
rate and the system is designed to accommodate a 1 in 100 year 
event plus an allowance for climate change. 

Landscape and 
Visual Impacts

A development of this scale will undoubtedly have some landscape 
and visual impact. These impacts will be localised and contained 
to some extent by existing development to the north west and east. 
The main changes of note will be the loss of farmland and a further 
encroachment into the open countryside, the presence of 
development over the crest of the hill when approaching High 
Harrington from the south and the change in outlook for nearby 
residents. The adverse effects in this respect are not considered to 
be significant, sufficient to warrant refusal of the development. 

Design/
Appearance

The scheme is considered to provide a good quality scheme that 
responds appropriately to the surroundings. 

Residential 
Amenity

Subject to a number of recommended conditions relating to the 
treatment of levels across the site, the scheme is considered to 
provide a high standard of housing environment without having a 
significant adverse effect on existing occupiers. 

Page 20



Ecology/Trees A suitable Ecological report has been provided for the proposal, 
the recommendations/mitigation measures of which are proposed 
to be secured by condition. 
The proposal will retain boundary hedging and trees, with the 
exception of the hedge to the site frontage. Additional tree planting 
and infill hedgerow is proposed to the southern boundary, secured 
by condition.

Amenity 
Greenspace/
Children’s Play 
Space

Generally compliant with the Council’s adopted Supplementary 
Planning Document. A condition is proposed to secure the 
provision of at least four pieces of play equipment which should 
provide for an age range for toddlers and juniors. Delivery is 
stipulated before the 50th plot. 

Affordable 
Housing Provision 

The proposal includes for 20% affordable units and a 70/30 tenure 
split (70% social rent, 30% discounted sale). The provision is 
considered to be acceptable by Housing Services. 

Education 
Services 

Cumbria County Council confirms that provision is available at 
Distington School up to Primary age, with places available at 
Stainburn Academy at Senior level. 

Other Matters Ground conditions can be adequately addressed by conditions.
No heritage impact concerns. 

Proposal

The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of 115 dwellings.

The proposal would be accessed from Main Road, High Harrington (A597), opposite 
Whins Farm and approx 50m south of the existing Story’s housing estate adjacent Whins 
Farm. A second Emergency Vehicle Access route is also proposed off Main Road 
through an existing field to the south at a distance from the main entrance of 72m.  This 
would connect to the first cul de sac within the proposed scheme and would not be for 
general use, but emergencies only. 

The proposal includes a looped road layout off the main access, with a number of private 
drives and shared surface roads transecting and spurring off from this loop. Given the 
sloping nature of the site, the proposal would include some earthworks and regrading of 
levels. 

The proposed housing consists of:
 
92 Proposed Open Market Housing:

4 x 2 bed – including 4 bungalows
22 x 3 bed – including 2 bungalows
60 x 4 bed
6 x 5 bed

Page 21



16 Affordable – Social rented:

4 x 1 bed flats
10 x 2 bed houses
2 x 3 bed houses

7 Discounted –Intermediate:

5 x 2 bed
2 x 4 bed

The density of the development, based on the gross site area, would be approx. 24.5 
dwellings per hectare. 

Three areas of open space are proposed within the site; one open greenspace to the 
eastern section of the site, one located to the central section of the site which includes an 
equipped play area and one within the northwest corner of the site that includes a SUDS 
pond. This pond would be battered down to a depth of 1.8m and would be fenced. 

Materials proposed are predominantly brick, with some render and a limited amount of 
stonework. 

A total of 317 parking spaces are proposed, which are provided through a combination of 
in curtilage spaces (263), garages (13), visitors’ spaces (8) and 33 on street spaces. 

The submitted Flood Risk Assessment indicates that surface water would connect to an 
existing watercourse at the north west corner of the site at an attenuated rate. Off-site 
foul sewers are proposed to connect along Harringdale Road to make a connection to the 
existing 225mm dia. foul sewer just prior to the junction with Scaw Road.

Amendments

Amended plans/supporting information has been provided during the consideration of the 
application, summarised as:

 Revised house types, increased separation distances and level changes to plots 
adjacent 147 and 143a Main Road. 

 Revised unit sizes for social rent and discounted sale properties.
 Re-positioning of affordable housing through the scheme.
 Provision of equipped play space on site. 
 Hedgerow Assessment
 Acoustic fencing details and positioning
 Accurate plans showing existing off-site housing
 Emergency Vehicle Access Route
 Additional Highway, Drainage and Parking information

Page 22



Site

The application site is comprised of a number of small fields separated by hedgerows 
and is currently used for grazing animals. The site extends to approx. 4.7 ha. Land levels 
across the site slope from the south east down to the north/north west. Level differences 
on the site are significant with the south-east corner reaching 81.30m above ordnance 
datum (AOD) and falling away to 66.50m at the watercourse in the north-west corner. 
Levels where the site access is proposed are approximately 74.95m. The site is 
somewhat elevated and provides views across Workington to the Solway to the north and 
approaches a crest to the south where levels plateau. It is situated to the east of Main 
Road (A597) and is located to the south of the built-up area of High Harrington.

Access is directly from Main Road (A597) opposite Whins Farm. The site frontage onto 
Main Road is currently formed by hedgerow. The southern boundary is formed in part by 
existing hedges and wire fence. The eastern boundary is formed by the rear boundaries 
of properties on Seadown Drive. The northern boundary comprises of properties on 
Beaufort Avenue and Harringdale Road. Similarly, the western side of the site is bounded 
by properties on Crooklands and properties accessed directly from Main Road. Existing 
hedges and trees predominantly separate the fields from all of these properties except for 
small sections of fencing.

Relevant Planning History

None

Representations

Workington Town Council

First response:

Recommend refusal - Concerns were raised over the existence of only one exit and 
entrance to the site, no locally equipped area for play, lack of car parking spaces and an 
inadequate strategy for cycling from the site. 

A councillor highlighted discrepancies in the transport assessment supplied. Section 
3.2.6 states that the existing traffic on the Main Road is significantly below the one-way 
capacity of 1,300 vehicles. However, it was highlighted that, in Road Task Group – 
Technical note 10, unusually low levels of traffic can be directly linked to frequent exits 
and entrances or bottlenecking of traffic on the road. Councillors noted that a report from 
the Highways Authority had yet to be received. Therefore, on the basis of poor traffic 
management, the committee recommends refusal.

Highways Authority/LLFA

First response:

Page 23



Request additional information relating to the submitted Transport and Drainage 
Information, including:

 Request for extended survey area to include - the roundabout A595/A597 (the 
majority of trips attracted/generated by the new development are expected to use 
the section of the A597 south of the development); the priority junction A597/W 
Ghyll Place; the junction at Moorclose Road and Church Road.

 HGV’s flows on the mini roundabout, Scaw Road/ Main Road A597, have not been 
considered in the junction modelling.

 An extension of the Lakes College in Lillyhall campus (ref No: 2/2017/0200) is 
expected to access/egress off the A597. This should be considered as a 
committed development and the trips attracted/generated included in the junction 
modelling.

 Request further consideration of parking provision and note proposal is below 
CCC standards.

 EVA required for development over 100 dwellings

 Surface Water Drainage Plan unclear

 Amendments required to plot arrangements

Recommend refusal pending the provision of this additional information. 

Second Response:

A further response from the Traffic Management Team Leader at CCC confirms that the 
pedestrian route from the application site to Distington village for school children is 
considered to be a ‘safe’ route. A pedestrian footpath extends the full length of the A597 
to its eastern side, where traffic lights cross the A595. A guardrail footpath then extends 
around the roundabout to where the unclassified and B road routes off the roundabout 
can be crossed. 

Third response:

Raise no objection to the proposal subject to conditions to secure appropriate highway 
arrangements (visibility splays, construction standards) and a final design and 
maintenance/management regime for surface water drainage.

A commuted sum is requested of £6600 for the monitoring of a Travel Plan.

A revised plan is requested by condition for the provision of visitor bays. 

Highways England

First and Second Response:

Page 24



No objection.

Education Services (CCC)

Primary - There is no space in the catchment school of Beckstone Primary to 
accommodate the primary pupil yield of 29 places from this development. There are two 
further school within the statutory safe walking distance which are, St Mary’s Catholic 
School, Harrington [1.2 miles] which taking into account the net capacity at the school 
also has no space, and Distington Community Primary [1.9 miles], which has places 
available which will accommodate the yield from this development, therefore no 
contribution for primary education will be required.

Secondary - There are sufficient places available in the catchment school of Workington 
Academy to accommodate the secondary pupil yield from this development. Currently 
there are 301 places available; 136 places are required from other developments, which 
leaves space to accommodate the 20 places required from this development, therefore 
no contribution for secondary education will be required. Workington Academy is not the 
closest secondary school, the Energy Coast UTC is closer [1.7miles] however, as a 
technical college, intake at the school is from the age of 14. Also closer is the St Joseph’s 
Catholic High School [2.7 miles] but this does not have a defined catchment area.

Access Officer

First & Second Response:

No objections.

ABC Housing Services

First response:

Require 20% provision and tenure split in accordance with policy S8. 

Provide further information from the 2016 housing study and Choice Based Lettings. The 
former suggests a need for affordable housing in Workington and its adjoining parishes of 
Camerton, Great Clifton, Seaton and Winscales is mainly for four bed properties, 
followed by three bed properties suitable for older persons. There is a lesser need for 
one, two and five+ bed properties for older persons and 5+ bed properties for general 
needs.

The latter indicates that there is a large demand for two bed houses for rent, the demand 
for three bed houses is smaller than the demand for one bed flats and bungalows and 
two bed bungalows.

Request that the developer re-considers the proposed provision in line with the evidence 
base. 

County Archaeologist

Page 25



First and Second Response:

No objections - The applicant has commissioned an archaeological desk-based 
assessment and geophysical survey of the site. The results indicate that there is a low 
potential for archaeological assets to be disturbed by the construction of the proposed 
development.

Natural England

First and Second response:

Refer to standing advice. 

Environmental Health

First & Second response:

Recommend conditions relating to noise mitigation, site investigation for contamination 
(including gas migration) and construction management. 

Cumbria Constabulary

First & Second Response:

Insufficient information to indicate how this development complies with the Local Plan on 
crime prevention and security issues. The dwellings are laid out to maximise
natural surveillance opportunities and enhance neighbourliness, without compromising 
privacy. But the public space identified as a likely attenuation basin is deliberately not
overlooked and the dwellings either side are specifically labelled as ‘Vista
Stopping Buildings’. To reduce the opportunities for anti-social or nuisance behaviour 
occurring in this space, it should be properly addressed by dwellings to improve views 
and to comply with DM14 Standards of Good Design. Further clarification required on 
boundary fences and burglar prevention measures.

Fire Service

Indicate that a development of 115 units does not require an EVA for their purposes. 
Instead the applicant must adopt a risk assessed approach. This may look at the 
possibility of domestic sprinklers being installed. An alternative approach may be to 
install a hydrant on the site to allow any incident to be dealt with by initially a single 
appliance crew.

Electricity North West 

First & Second Response:

No objection. The development could impact on ENW apparatus. Confirm that there is an 
11kV cable on the north side of the proposed development area. There is an overhead 
LV circuit on the southwest side of the proposed development area. Any structures 

Page 26



and/or easements will need to be protected or diverted at the applicant’s extent. 

United Utilities

No objection. Following review of Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, dated 
April 2017 ref: 30094/RDE proposing surface water discharging into watercourse, confirm 
the proposals are acceptable in principle to United Utilities. Recommend conditions to 
secure drainage for the development in accordance with principles set out in the 
submitted Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, and conditions for maintenance 
and management. 

Northern Gas Networks

No objections. Plan provided for apparatus in the area. 
 

The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 
letter.

The application has been called in to Development Panel by Cllr Harrington. 

34 letters of representation have been received following the original advertisement of 
the application and re-consultation (up to 23rd November 2018), raising objection to the 
proposal.  The representations are summarised as follows:

 Harrington has more than its fair share of house building. Too much new build for 
the existing infrastructure to cope. 

 The roads through High Harrington are already very busy and congested with 
often queues of traffic waiting on Scaw Road and Crooklands trying to join the 
A597 as well as a large build-up of traffic on the A597 trying to join the A595 and 
A597 to the South and East respectively.

 Potential to impact on red squirrels, frogs and toads that are all noted to be using 
gardens adjoining the site. 

 Harm to privacy by way of overlooking, noise and disturbance. 
 Loss of view
 Overshadowing
 Vehicle pollution, particularly for children if required to walk to Distington.
 Local school promised money from Whins Farm and didn’t get any. 
 Local schools are full and amenities are poor and unable to support this level of 

development. 
 Too much building in such as small area.
 Houses aren’t affordable. 
 Adverse visual impact on the area
 Over-development/density too high. 
 Increased risk of accidents, limited crossing points for the A597. Road is already 

dangerous and heavily congested.  
 Exacerbate existing surface water flooding on Scaw Road
 Access appears to be on a blind brow, another dangerous junction. 
 Greenfield development yet again, not the numerous brownfield sites that exist in 

Page 27



West Cumbria. 
 Hedges to be lost contain a number of mature trees and are used by wildlife such 

as red squirrels, bats, hedgehogs and various bird species as wildlife habitat and 
corridors which, on starting the development, will have a significant detrimental 
effect to the wildlife resident on the area.

 No provision for a play area on the plans. 
 Local area needs a zebra crossing at Brewery House for children crossing to 

school from former railway, outside classroom/classroom lodges, new software at 
school and literary resources, cast iron seats on harbour. 

 Housing need figures based on Central Government figure that has been plucked 
out of the air. No rationale for Allerdale to be increasing its provision. 

 Application made with obsolete or no data. 
 Plans provided do not show the proposal sufficiently in context. 
 Traffic Data is from 2014 and does not take account of recent development. A597 

is carrying a lot more traffic with congestion at Lillyhall roundabout and Beckstone 
Bridge. 

 Is the water supply adequate? Do the sewers have capacity? 
 Who are these houses for? What if Moorside suffers a long delay or cancellation?
 Harrington needs a bypass, people speed into the village all the time. 
 There should be no removal of mature trees along Crooklands. Significant trees 

and hedgerows would be removed. 
 Site floods during heavy rain with adjacent gardens waterlogged all winter.
 Main road not designed for the level of traffic using it. 
 Request an independent air quality and traffic assessment before any decision.   

Duties 

Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires all 
public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the exercise 
of their functions, particularly when determining a planning application for a development 
which may have an impact on European Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great 
crested newts or otters.

Development plan policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) – Adopted July 2014

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 – Development Principles
Policy S6 – Area Based

Page 28



Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 – Affordable Housing
Policy S21 – Developer contributions
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S24 – Green Infrastructure
Policy S25 – Sports, Leisure and Open Space
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 – Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality
Policy DM12 – Sustainable Construction
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM16 – Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerow and Woodland

Other Material Considerations

Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 (Pre-submission Draft)

National Planning Policy Framework July 2018

Allerdale Borough Council Plan:

• Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where they 
are needed.

Policy Weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2018) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Great 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 

Page 29



full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers. In the absence of the applicability, in this 
instance, of the policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance, 
the provisions of paragraph 11 d. ii. of the NPPF  and the ‘tilted balance’ are therefore 
engaged.

However, this does not mean that policies S3 and S5 are out of date in other respects, 
nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date and should not be 
afforded substantial or full weight where they are consistent with the provisions of the 
NPPF 2018. In this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 
can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the sustainability principles 
of the NPPF 2018 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. Other polices within the Part 1 
Local Plan maintain their full weight.

Assessment 

Principle

(a) Location 

High Harrington, along with Harrington, Seaton and Stainburn fall within the defined 
settlement of Workington, which is the Principal Service Centre within the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1 (ALPP1) and to which 35% of overall housing growth is directed by the 
ALPP1, amounting to 106 dwellings per year over the Plan period. 

Policy S5 states that new development will be concentrated within the physical limits of 
the Principal Service Centre. However, implicit to the policies of the ALPP1, is the 
understanding that the adopted settlement boundaries of the 1999 Plan would require 
updating and extending to accommodate the intended housing supply, certainly within 
the medium term of the Plan period as part of the preparation of the Allerdale Local Plan 
Part 2. It was accepted by the Inspector as part of the planning appeal at Great 
Broughton referenced above, that we are now within the medium term of the Plan period, 
whereby site allocations outside of the 1999 settlement limits should be on stream to 
provide for housing delivery. With Part 2 of the Local Plan still in advance of its 
submission and subject to objections, it is afforded little weight and there cannot be a 
reliance on the draft allocations contained within it. The 1999 settlement limits are 
therefore considered to be out of date and both policies S3 and S5 of the ALPP1 are not 
considered to carry weight insofar as they relate to these out of date settlement 
boundaries. 

The proposed development site lies outside of, but directly adjacent to, the 1999 
settlement limit for Workington, along part of the southern boundary to High Harrington, 
accessed directly off the A597. It would border existing housing development to the north 
and east and would therefore be compatible with the predominant land use.   The 
location of the proposal is considered to relate well to the existing settlement.  

As cited above, the Pre-Submission draft of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 which seeks 
to review existing settlement limits and provide strategic housing allocations for the 
remainder of the Plan period identifies the site for housing (Draft policies SA6 and SA9). 

Page 30



At this stage of the plan making process, the pre-submission draft cannot be afforded 
significant weight, but it is noted that the proposal does not raise any conflict with this 
current draft in terms of the location of new housing. 

(b) Scale of development 

Policy S5 of the ALPP1 requires that the scale of development proposed be 
commensurate to the size of the settlement and reflect its position in the hierarchy. The 
application site is relatively large in scale and falling within the Principal Service Centre 
for the Borough As such the scale of the development is considered to be acceptable. 
The draft ALPP2 acknowledges that, within the Principal Service Centre, significant 
housing growth will be delivered through larger sites. 

Concerns of residents are noted relating to the scale of the proposal in relation to High 
Harrington itself, having regard to recently constructed and ongoing development of 
housing at Whins Farm (Storey Homes) and The Meadows (Thomas Armstrong) and the 
level of services and amenities unique to High Harrington itself. However, as an integral 
part of the Principal Centre, which benefits from a range of services and amenities, the 
scale of the proposal accords with the settlement hierarchy of the ALPP1. Whilst the site 
is not previously developed land, the majority of allocations proposed within the Pre-
submission draft are on greenfield sites, acknowledging that there is insufficient 
previously developed land to meet the identified need.  

To conclude, the scale of the development is considered to be appropriate for the 
Principal Service Centre and 115 dwellings equates to a density of 24.5 dwellings per 
hectare, which accords with parameters set down in draft policy SA9 of the ALPP2 and is 
consistent with the density of development to the north and east. 

(c) Housing supply 

Policy S3 of the ALPP1 identifies that Workington as the Principal Service Centre, will 
provide 35% of the housing growth over the Plan period, equating to 1915 dwellings up to 
2029. Planning permissions totalling 1120 dwellings have been given to date 
(commitments), with a further 460 dwellings proposed from allocated sites within Part 2 
and the remainder comprised of windfall sites. To date, 680 dwellings have been 
completed. The provision of an additional 115 dwellings would contribute to and not 
exceed the requirement to be provided by the Principal Service Centre and as a draft 
allocation with Part 2, would not adversely impact on the housing balance. 

(d) Conclusion on the principle of development 

Notwithstanding the fact that the site lies outside of the settlement limit for Workington, 
Officers consider the principle of residential development at this location to be 
acceptable. The site lies directly adjacent to the saved settlement limit and therefore, can 
be considered both well related and sustainable. The scale of development proposed is 
not considered to be disproportionate to the size of the settlement nor its role as the 
Principal Service Centre. 

Officers conclude that the proposed development is acceptable in principle.

Page 31



Benefits of the proposal

The provision of 115 additional dwellings at High Harrington would provide for additional 
housing at a scale that the draft ALPP2 considers reasonable for Workington as the 
Principal Service Centre. The proposal would contribute particularly to one of the key 
objectives of the NPPF to boost significantly the supply of housing in order to contribute 
to the economic and particularly the social dimension of sustainable development – 
supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the supply of housing 
required to meet the needs of present and future generations. Similarly, the proposal 
would contribute to strategic objective SO2c of the ALPP2, which seeks to ensure a 
deliverable supply of housing land that meets the needs of the community and local 
economy, as well as the Council Plan in terms of strengthening our economy - supporting 
the development of new homes where they are needed. 

The proposal would provide for 23 additional affordable houses for social rent and 
discounted sale, increasing access to affordable housing, in accordance with strategic 
objective SO2d of the ALPP1 and the Council Plan’s priority of tackling inequality through 
the provision of more affordable housing.    

The provision of additional housing would have economic benefits arising from further 
investment in the construction industry and the associated retention of jobs directly and 
indirectly within the supply chain.  

These significant benefits must be afforded weight in the application of the “tilted 
balance.”

Sustainability, Access and Parking

(a) Sustainability:

Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is located 
in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access to public 
transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private motor vehicles. 
These policies accord with Paragraph 32 of the NPPF which seek to ensure sustainable 
transport modes are maximised and development is safe and accessible. Policy S5 
requires that new development includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and 
access.

The Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for Journeys 
on Foot’ (2000) considers acceptable walking distances for planning and evaluation 
purposes and indicates that for commuting/school a distance of 500m is desirable, 
1000m is acceptable and 2000m is the preferred maximum. For other journeys (such as 
shops), 400m is desirable, 800m is acceptable and 1200m is the preferred maximum. 

As stated above, High Harrington falls within the Principal Service Centre of Workington, 
to which large scale development is directed. As part of the largest town in the Borough, 
the site is considered to have reasonable access to the widest range of services and 
amenities. 

Page 32



However, the site does lie to the edge of this settlement, and the respective distances to 
schools and employment opportunities are noted as follows:

Lakes College – 1km
Beckstones School/Shops and Services of Church Road, Harrington – 1.4km
Distington School – 2.2km
Lillyhall – approx. 2.0km
Stainburn Academy – 5km

As such, it is considered that there are some services, amenities and 
education/employment opportunities within the preferred maximum walking distances, 
whilst other facilities, supermarkets and employment opportunities lie beyond this. 

At present, a lit footpath extends from the site northwards into High Harrington to both the 
western and eastern sides of the A597.  The lit footpath to the east also extends south to 
the roundabout with the A595. 

The site is on regular bus routes (30/31 and the 301) and the nearest bus stop is at The 
Crooklands entrance (approx. 200m).   These regular services, connect to Carlisle, 
Maryport, Workington and Whitehaven. Harrington railway station is located 2km from the 
site, albeit at a much lower than the site and not offering a convenient alternative mode of 
transport. 

For cyclists, National Cycle Route 72 (Cumbrian Coast and Hadrian’s Cycleway) is in 
close proximity to the site (800m) and provides links to both Workington and Whitehaven. 

The site is therefore considered, notwithstanding the distance to the railway station, to 
have good access to a regular bus route and can connect to a national cycle route.  Lit 
pedestrian footpaths exist to the north and south of the site, albeit some walkers may be 
discouraged by distance and the busy A597 and concerns of residents are noted that this 
main road can be difficult to cross. Overall, the site is considered to be sustainable, given 
the level of access for pedestrians, cyclists and the proximity of regular bus routes. 

The application has been supported by a Residential Travel Plan to encourage 
sustainable travel patterns to be both established from the outset and maintained over 
time. The Travel Plan provides the following measures:

 Resident Engagement Strategy: Promotion of travel options, Provision of a 
bespoke travel information website, Provision of a travel information guide, 
Personal Journey Planner from the TP Co-ordinator, Preparation of an annual 
travel newsletter for residents.

 Walking Strategy : Promote and encourage walking through the distribution or 
displaying of promotional material, Provide appropriate internal and external 
linkages for pedestrians.

 Public Transport/Cycle Strategy: Promote and encourage cycling by distributing or 
displaying promotional material.

 Sustainable Car Use Strategy: Promote Car Sharing, Promote Eco-Driving, 
Promote Electric Car Charging Points.

Page 33



 
Having regard to the relevant policies of the Plan and the NPPF, it is considered that the 
proposal is accessible by modes other than the car and that measures would be provided 
to reduce the reliance on the private car by future residents. 

(b) Access provision/Impact on the highway network:

The application has been supported by a Transport Assessment (TA) and Stage 1 Road 
Safety Audit. Further information as indicated above has been provided at the request of 
the Highways Authority. 

A single access point is proposed off the A597 to serve the proposal, with a second 
access proposed for Emergency Vehicle Access only, also positioned off the A597, to the 
south. The main access would be a simple T-junction designed to accommodate 100-300 
dwellings and lies within the existing 30mph speed limit. Footpaths are proposed to be 
designed to tie into the existing provision on Main Road to the north and south of the site 
frontage. The proposed access is situated c.50m south of the recently constructed 
residential access on the west side of Main Road and would provide visibility splays of 
58.5m to the north and 64.9m to the south. These have been based on speed surveys 
dating from 2014 and long sections are provided to demonstrate that the crest of the hill 
going south would not impede the visibility proposed. 

The findings of the submitted TA are summarised as follows: 
 9 recorded Personal Injury Accidents within the study area, in the period from 

November 2009 to March 2016, which resulted in a ‘Slight’ injury. 
 There were no recorded serious or fatal accidents within the vicinity of the site in 

this period. 
 Of the 9 recorded incidents, 1 related to the Scaw Road/Main road junction, 4 to 

Main Road / West Ghyll Place, 3 to Hallwood Road/Main Road and 1 other..  
 One accident is reported on Main Road, between Scaw Road and West Ghyll 

Place, during the study period. This involved a vehicle stopping at the side of the 
road to reverse onto a drive and a vehicle behind colliding with the rear of the 
stationary vehicle. 

 On the basis of this information, the TA concludes that the development will not 
exacerbate any existing road safety problem within the vicinity of the site and it 
does not appear that any PIAs 2resulted from the layout or geometry of the link or 
junction where it occurred. 

 In terms of capacity of the adjacent road network, the submitted TA relies on traffic 
flow data from 2014 also and indicates flows on Main Road are 415 – 723 vehicles 
per hour northbound and 496 - 538 southbound during peak periods. 

 The TA concludes that existing traffic flows are significantly below the link capacity 
of Main Road. TA79/99 gives the capacity of various types of urban roads. Main 
Road is considered to be a type UAP2 or UAP3 road and would have a minimum 
one-way capacity of 1,300 vehicles per hour, which is significantly higher than the 
existing traffic flow levels where the highest average observed traffic flow is 723 
vehicles per hour northbound in the PM peak hour. 

 Analysis of nearby junctions has been provided for the proposed site access 
junction on Main Road and the A597 Main Road/Scaw Road mini-roundabout 
junction, based on data taken in 2014 and updated in 2016 and takes account of 

Page 34



commitments on land west of Main Road (75 dwellings), 80 dwellings off Main 
Road and 53 dwellings at Bellaport Gardens. 

 Using the TRICS database, the trip generations used in the traffic assessments 
are 69 and 75 vehicles, two-way, in the AM and PM peak hour periods 
respectively. At the Main Road / Scaw Road junction to the north of the proposed 
access, the development will generate an additional 31 vehicle turning movements 
per hour in the AM peak and an additional 33 vehicle turning movements per hour 
in the PM peak. These represent only c.2.4% of observed traffic flows during the 
AM and PM peak periods at the Main Road / Scaw Road junction. 

 Flows on Scaw Road will increase by 18 vehicles per hour during the AM peak 
period and by 19 vehicles per hour during the PM peak period. This level of 
additional traffic is considered to have a negligible impact on Scaw Road and its 
junction with the A596 and no interventions are required at the junction. 

 The increase in flows on Main Road to the west of the Scaw Road junction will 
also be negligible (13 vehicles per hour in the AM peak and 14 vehicles per hour 
in the PM peak).

 Observed Flows through the Scaw Road Mini-roundabout are provided along with 
Forecast flows for 2027 for this roundabout and from the new access off main 
Road. 

 The TA results demonstrate that the proposed access junction on the A597 Main 
Road will operate with significant spare capacity during peak periods with a 
maximum RFC of 0.16 on the site access and negligible queuing.

 The TA results demonstrate that the mini-roundabout will operate with spare 
capacity during peak periods with the development proposal in place with a 
maximum RFC of 0.79 and a queue of around 3-4 vehicles on the Main Road 
(south) arm during the PM peak hour period. The results demonstrate that the 
proposals will result in a negligible increase in RFC and vehicle queues at the 
junction during peak periods. 

 As the impacts are negligible, no intervention is proposed. 

Following submission, the Highways Authority requested additional 
information/clarification on a number of issues and the applicant’s consultants have 
responded to this. This additional information:

 Clarifies the extent of survey work established at the pre-application stage directly 
with CCC

 Confirms that HGV flows on the Scaw Road Mini roundabout have been factored 
in to the submitted TA.

 Provides additional peak flow data for development at the Lakes College site and 
confirms that the low flows are not significant in the context of the road capacity 
and as such, do not warrant further assessment. 

 Responds to points of detail on the site layout. 

Following the submission of additional information, the Highways Authority has raised no 
objection to the proposal in terms of its impact on the capacity of the road network. A 
condition to secure a minimum visibility splay is suggested and included within this 
report. Similarly, Highways England has raised no objection to the proposal in relation to 
the operation of the A595 trunk road. 

Page 35



Based on the advice of these consultees, it is not considered that the proposal would 
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety, nor would the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network be severe. As such, having regard to Paragraph 109 of the 
revised NPPF, highways grounds are not considered to be a reason for refusal in this 
case. 

(c) Parking:

CCC’s Design Guide requires a maximum of 294 spaces for the housing mix proposed. 
The revised scheme proposes 304 spaces from a combination of in curtilage parking, 
designated visitor spaces and on street parking. An additional 13 spaces are proposed 
for garaging. As such, the maximum parking requirements of the County Council’s 
Design Guide are exceeded.  

The response from the County Council indicates that the proposal does not provide 
sufficient visitor spaces, although the response provided does not include a breakdown of 
the need and therefore how any shortfall has been calculated. Officers have calculated 
the required number of overall spaces as indicated above and the submission of 304 
spaces exceeds the Design Guide which is intended as a maximum. As such, it is not 
considered appropriate to include the condition requested by the Highways Authority for 
a further plan providing visitor spaces. As a detailed application, this would not be 
procedurally appropriate as the Council is required the consider the detailed scheme as 
submitted.  

To conclude on this topic, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to policy 
S22 of the ALP and advice contained within the NPPF. 

Flooding and Drainage

Policy S29 of the ALPP1 directs development away from areas at risk from flooding, and 
seeks to ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere, requiring full consideration of the 
surface water drainage hierarchy. 

The proposal site lies within Flood Zone 1, which is land at the lowest probability to 
flooding. 

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy, with additional information provided at the request of the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA). The submitted information confirms that, at the pre-application stage, 
the LLFA requested surface water be restricted to 5 litres/sec/ha to reflect current 
greenfield run-off rates. This equates to 23.8 l/s and flows from the development are 
proposed to be restricted to this rate. 

It is submitted that infiltration will not be suitable on the site following some initial tests.
A connection to the ordinary watercourse in the north-west corner of the site is possible 
and a Sketch Drainage Layout has been provided to demonstrate the proposed details of 
the scheme. 

Attenuation will be included in the system in the form of an on-line basin that will also 
provide treatment prior to discharge to the ordinary watercourse. Some oversized pipes 

Page 36



and off-line cellular storage will also be provided. Two flow controls have been
introduced to limit the flows at the oversized pipes and at the basin outlet.
The hydraulic calculations included indicate the flows from the development can be 
restricted to 23.8 l/s in all events up to the 100 year (including 30% climate change 
allowance).

The proposed pond structure will be 1.8m maximum depth, battered to 1 in 3, with 
vegetation to the perimeter. The submission indicates that the pond structure will hold a 
small amount of water at all times, with levels fluctuating depending on rainfall. The 
submission confirms that the pond is in accordance with C753 SUDS manual.
The submitted report suggests that the final surface water drainage details be 
conditioned and confirms that a survey of the condition of the existing watercourse will be 
necessary before finalising details. 

The proposal indicates that foul drainage will connect to the main sewer and United 
Utilities has raised no objection to this. Off-site foul sewers are proposed along 
Harringdale Road to make a connection to the existing 225mm dia. foul sewer just prior 
to the junction with Scaw Road. The foul connection will involve crossing third party land
and an easement will be required; if such an easement cannot be negotiated the sewer 
may have to be installed via a Sewer Requisition.

United Utilities and the Lead Local Flood Authority have raised no objections to this 
aspect of the proposal subject to appropriate conditions to secure details of surface water 
drainage and its management/maintenance. 

In providing for attenuation of a 1 in 100 year event plus allowance for climate change, 
the proposal is considered to take an appropriate and reasonable approach to 
addressing flood risk and no concerns/objections have been raised by the Environment 
Agency or the Local Lead Flood Authority. As such, the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in relation to policy S29 of the ALPP1, subject to conditions to secure a 
surface water drainage system that achieves the specification outlined above, as well as 
conditions to secure its management and maintenance.  

Landscape and Visual Effects

Policy S33 of the ALPP1 seeks to protect, conserve and enhance the landscape 
character and local distinctiveness of the Plan Area and supports the NPPF aim to 
recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Policies S4 and DM14 of 
the ALPP1, seek to ensure amongst other things that new development responds 
positively to the character and distinctiveness of the location and integrates effectively 
and policy S24 seeks to ensure that regard is had to how the development retains green 
infrastructure. 

The applicant has provided a Landscape and Visual Assessment of the site, along with 
viewpoints and photomontages.

The site is not located within any nationally important landscape designations. The LVA 
confirms that the site lies in the West Cumbria Coastal Plain at the national level and 
within the landscape character type ‘5d - Urban Fringe’, as defined in the document 
‘Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit’. Urban Fringe’ is described as 

Page 37



areas which have experienced long term urban influences on agricultural land, with large 
scale buildings and industrial estates being common, and valleys, restored woodland and 
semi-urbanised woodland providing interest. The Toolkit indicates that intact field 
patterns of farmland reinforced by hedges and hedgerow trees are sensitive to changes 
in land management and settlement expansion. Open green spaces and fields close to 
settlement edges are sensitive to unsympathetic development. In terms of development, 
the Toolkit states:

 The tendencies for urban development to further encroach on the countryside and 
for agriculture to suffer from vandalism and pressures for access.

 Housing development on sensitive ridges can often lack the soft landscaping 
needed to help integrate it into the wider landscape.

 Expansion of villages can lead to a lack of identity and poor definition between 
town and country.

 Green infrastructure provides an opportunity to seek enhancements to the 
landscape, biodiversity and cultural heritages adjacent to urban areas and to 
create green corridors between settlements.

The site does not adjoin any public right of way, the nearest being on the opposite site of 
the A597 adjacent to Whins Close. Some views of the proposal may be visible from this 
footpath as well as for pedestrians and drivers passing the site along Main Road and 
from residents adjoining the site. 

The LVA assesses the landscape character of the assessment site as dominated by 
open fields of semi-improved agricultural grassland, bounded by a combination of 
treatments including brick and stone garden walls, post-and-wire fencing, hedges and 
numerous mature boundary trees. The immediate land use to the south is uniformly 
agricultural – namely pastoral grassland - although residential development exists to the 
north, east and west of the Site along the A597 (Main Road), Crooklands, Harringdale 
Road and Beaufort Avenue, and also at Seadown Drive.

The results of the LVA are summarised as follows:

Landscape
 the assessment site is considered to be of overall Moderate Quality in terms of 

landscape condition and value. 
 The assessment site is visible from within the immediate area and residential 

properties that adjoin it. Views would also be available from road users along Main 
Road and Charity Lane to the south.

 The development proposals would change the character of the assessment Site 
from an agricultural site to a residential one, giving rise to the irreversible loss of 
the semi-improved grassland which currently exists. 

 The overall sensitivity of the landscape character (as a receptor) is considered to 
be Low. This considers the site features which exhibit some value (such as 
mature, species-poor hedgerows and established landscape pattern), but also the 
detracting elements which have influenced the landscape (such as its edge of 
town location, the loss of hedgerows and a variety of non-original boundary 
treatments) and thus creates capacity for this landscape to accept change.

 The assessment Site is not critical to maintaining the overall landscape character 

Page 38



of the area, as the character would continue to be obtained in the surrounding 
area when the assessment site was developed. The magnitude of the effects on 
landscape character is therefore considered to be Medium. 

 This takes into account that the site has been assessed as having capacity to 
accept change, although the scale of the development would be visible in medium-
range filtered views from road users along the A597 (Main Road) and also 
medium-distance views from Footpaths 262004 and 262003 to the south. The 
extent of the landscape change would be localised and generally confined to the 
immediate setting.

 The landscape effect of the proposed development on the overall landscape 
character would therefore be Slight.

 The consequent effect on landscape features and vegetation as a landscape 
receptor would therefore be Slight.

Visual
 The proposed development would change the nature of the outlook available from 

adjacent residential properties, in that the existing views to and over the 
undeveloped site would be affected. 

 The susceptibility and sensitivity of these residential visual receptors is considered 
to be High. 

 In terms of magnitude, the visual effects on residential properties are considered 
to be Small. This takes into account that the development is considered to be of 
moderate scale, in that, the new development essentially comprises an ‘infilling’ of 
the existing development envelope within the wider view.

 The overall visual effect on residential properties would be Major/Moderate to 
Moderate at closer proximity and Moderate to Slight at longer distances.

 The susceptibility and sensitivity of roads as visual receptors is considered to be 
Medium. The value of these passing and transient views is therefore considered to 
be Low. This is because the observation of passing road users and commuters is 
brief and momentary. The magnitude of the visual effect of the development on 
public roads is therefore considered to be Small.

 The proposed development would therefore entail only limited change to the 
existing view along the public roads and would not constitute an adverse visual or 
significant environmental effect. 

 The principal visual effect on public rights of way (PRoW) will be Slight. The 
nearest PRoW/Bridleway is approximately 120m to the west of the assessment 
Site, although views are restricted at closer distances along this footpath due to 
intervening built form at Whins Farm Close and the undulating nature of the 
topography in this location. Thus, the least interrupted views towards the Site from 
this footpath (Footpath 262004) are available from approximately 280m south west 
of the Site.

 In terms of magnitude of effect, the visual effect of the proposed development on 
PRoW would be Small from those views closest to the development, and Small for 
views at longer distances along these footpaths.

The impact of the proposal on residential amenity including outlook, will be considered in 
detail in the section below. 

The application site is presently part of a network of fields comprising the open 

Page 39



countryside that surrounds High Harrington. As it lies immediately adjacent modern 
housing development to three boundaries and the A597, its urban fringe characteristics 
are notable. This urban fringe quality is emphasised by the presence of industrial and 
educational facilities further south at Lakes College and Lillyhall. Whilst the Landscape 
Character Toolkit notes the risk of development further eroding the countryside, which 
this development would do to an extent, it would do so in a relatively contained manner. 
The proposed boundary treatment would provide a definitive line to the edge of the built 
form to the south and an adequate physical separation of open land would remain 
between the village and the industrial/educational facilities to the south. As such, it is not 
considered that the proposal would result in sprawl. 

Whilst there would be an obvious change in the character of the site itself, this impact 
would be localised within an area that is not highly sensitive to change. As such, the 
broader landscape character impacts of the proposal are not considered to be significant. 

Land levels across the site slope upwards from the north west corner to the south east, 
(approx. 66.5 – 80.6m AOD). Beyond the southern boundary, levels fall and plateau to a 
degree before rising further south. As a result, when travelling south along Main Road, 
the proposal would be viewed as continuing housing development through High 
Harrington as the road rises up to the south.  When travelling from the south, the 
southern line of housing proposed will be visible in part over the crest of the hill, where 
housing to the east of the A597 is not particularly visible at present. This will be similar to 
the visibility of the farmhouse and farm buildings at Whins Farm to the opposite side of 
the road, but extending to the east. 

It is considered that this will be the most notable visual change resulting from the 
development, experienced by pedestrians and drivers on the A597. Whilst this change 
will be notable, it is not considered that the resulting visual impact would be significant on 
the basis that the visual qualities of the immediate locality are not high, hedgerows along 
the A597 restrict views and where more open views are available, the development will 
sit within a relatively wide ranging open aspect, taking up only a portion of the view at a 
relatively low lying scale. Visual receptors will have an awareness of entering an urban 
environment. 

Having regard to the submitted LVA and the relevant policies of the Plan, the landscape 
and visual impacts of the development are not considered to be significant. 

Design/Appearance

Policies S4 and DM14 of the ALPP1 seek to ensure a high quality of design in new 
development and incorporate criteria addressing a number of design issues, including 
responding positively to the character and distinctiveness of an area, integration, 
connectivity, appropriate scale, and so on. 

The proposal provides for a relatively standard housing estate layout, the approach being 
dictated to some extent by the singular access point from Main Road and level changes 
across the site. The layout generally follows a looped round that extends from and 
returns to the one access point.  The proposal provides for a mix of standard house types 
and sizes, generally with in-curtilage parking to the front or side, integral garaging, front 
driveways and private rear gardens. The proposal provides for two areas of Public Open 

Page 40



Space, one centrally providing an equipped area of play and one to the eastern portion of 
the site.  The proposal incorporates significant tree planting within the proposed estate 
and additional hedging to the southern boundary where the development adjoins the 
open countryside.    

Internally to the site, the proposal is considered to provide for a good standard of housing 
environment, providing adequate separation distances, external amenity space, in 
curtilage parking and public open space for future residents, similar in style to recent 
developments at Clifton, High Harrington, Stainburn and Thursby. Should members be 
minded to approve the proposal, a condition is recommended relating to the approval of 
groundworks/retaining structures to internal boundaries, to ensure that the standard of 
housing environment for future residents is not adversely impacted by overly high 
retaining and boundary walls where there are notable level changes.

In design terms, the proposal is considered to respond appropriately to the character of 
High Harrington, which has some limited older development to its main through routes, 
but which has been extended by large scale housing estates dating back to the 1970’s.

There is limited permeability through the site to existing housing to the north and east. It 
is understood that this is as a result of land ownership restrictions. As any such routes 
would not necessarily improve the connectivity of the site to existing services and 
amenities (which are mainly accessed along Main Road) then the lack of permeability in 
this instance does not raise any significant concerns.  
A noise report has been provided on the basis that future residents could potentially be 
impacted by existing noise, principally that arising from motorists on the A597. The report 
recommends mitigation measures and Environmental Health recommend a condition 
requiring these measures to be incorporated into the scheme 

As such, the proposal is considered to have sufficient regard to its context and provide a 
good quality of housing environment for future residents in accordance with policies S4 
and DM14. 

Residential Amenity

A number of policies of the ALPP1 and principally Policy S32 seek to protect the amenity 
of existing residents to an acceptable standard. 

The proposal has the potential to impact principally on those residential properties to the 
western, northern and eastern boundaries of the site.  

To the eastern boundary of the site lies Seadown Drive, properties bordering the site are 
both single and two storey, some with rear additions that vary in size and scale. Main 
back to back distances between existing and proposed housing (excluding additions), 
would range from 21.5 to 28m along this boundary, with the finished floor levels of the 
proposed housing following the contour of the land, as do the existing houses. The 
existing boundary hedge would be retained. Given that there will be no significant level 
changes to these off site houses, the separation distances are considered to be 
acceptable in terms of the level of housing environment retained by way of privacy, 
overshadowing and over-dominance. 

Page 41



To the northern boundary of the site lie properties on Beaufort Avenue and Harringdale 
Road. Land levels generally fall to the north and so the housing on the application site 
will be positioned at a higher level. 

In relation to 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11 and 24 Beaufort Avenue, main back to back distances will 
be approx. 32m and main to side distances will be at least 19m. Existing boundary 
hedging and trees would be retained at this point. As such, the separation distances 
proposed are considered to be sufficient to ensure these neighbouring properties are not 
significantly adversely affected by way of overlooking, overshadowing or overdominance.  

In relation to 23, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39 and 100 Harringdale Road, main back to 
back distances will exceed 27m and main to side distances will be at least 17m. A mature 
hedge and some trees will be retained to this boundary, with the exception of no.33 
Harringdale Road which has an open boundary. A section drawing has been provided of 
proposed plot 24’s relationship to 31 Harringdale Road, which indicates a level change of 
2.2m in height and a separation distance of 27.3m. A hedge exists to this boundary and 
only a small external terrace is proposed to this plot. As such, this relationship and the 
relationship with others along Harringdale Road are considered to be acceptable, with 
the exception of no.33. 

As indicated above, there is no hedging to the rear of no.33 Harringdale and proposed 
plot 25 would be at a similarly raised level to plot 24, with a large rear terrace within 7.0 - 
7.5m of the site boundary, albeit this terrace is not shown on the section drawing. A 1.8m 
fence is proposed to this boundary that would easily be overlooked by any raised terrace. 
As such, it is considered appropriate to secure by condition that, notwithstanding the 
submitted plans, this terrace be lowered or reduced in a manner that would not result in 
significant overlooking to no.33.  

To the western boundary, the site adjoins properties on Crooklands and Main Road. 
There are marked level changes towards the southern section of the site towards this 
boundary (with the application site at a higher level, but these level changes gradually tail 
off and are less noticeable towards the northern section/boundary of the site). 

Due to the juxtaposition of existing properties on Crooklands with the proposed plots on 
the site, the less notable level change and the separation distances proposed, the 
proposed development is not considered to have a significant adverse impact on the 
residential amenity of these properties. 

To the rear of 143a, 145 and 147 Main Road, land levels rise across the site. Initially, 
concerns were raised in relation to the impact of the proposed housing on the outlook 
and privacy of these properties and, as a result, amended plans have been provided 
which include a change to house types, increased separation distances and lower 
finished floor levels. Dormer bungalows are now proposed to plots 5, 6 and 7 which back 
onto 143a Main Road.  Whilst the level changes between the 143a Main Road and plots 
5, 6 and 7 will still range between 2-3m, separation distances will now exceed 30metres. 
As such, whilst the outlook for this property will no doubt change, the separation 
distances and changes to the house types are considered sufficient to ensure that this 
proposal will not be significantly overlooked and the development will not appear 
oppressive. 

Page 42



Plots 3 and 4 which are to the rear of 145 and 147 Main Road have been amended to 
bungalows. Minimum separation distances are approx. 24m and these plots have been 
positioned to face north west, whereas 145/147 main Road lie due west. Whilst these 
plots will be at a higher ground level, section drawings are provided and officers consider 
that, similarly to 143a Main Road, whilst the outlook for these two properties will no doubt 
change, the separation distances and changes to the house types are considered 
sufficient to ensure that this proposal will not be significantly overlooked and the 
development will not appear oppressive. 

Further to the amended plans provided and subject to the condition suggested relating to 
plot 25, it is considered that the impacts on the residential amenity of neighbouring 
properties will not be significant and therefore in this respect, the proposal is acceptable 
in relation to policy S32 of the ALPP1. 

Ecology

Policy S35 of the ALPP1 seeks to maintain and improve conditions for biodiversity and 
the protection of sites and species according to their level of importance. 

The application has been supported by an Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and 
additional surveys for bats and red squirrels.  

The site mainly consists of grazing land intersected by hedgerow. The submitted surveys 
indicate the primary interest in the locality relates to bats, red squirrels and birds. It states 
that whilst bats are foraging across the site, no bat roosting potential within the site was 
recorded. Similarly for red squirrels, whilst there are a number of records of red squirrels 
within the locality, no dreys were detected on site. The report therefore concludes with a  
number of mitigation measures:

 The species-poor hedgerow along the southern site boundary will be ‘filled-in’ and 
improved using native species.

 The landscape scheme will include tree species which are favourable for red 
squirrels.  

 Bat boxes will be installed on 3 of the retained trees on site
 New lighting should be directed away from hedgerows and mature trees which will 

avoid disturbance to foraging bats which may use these features on site. 
 Red squirrel dreys may be constructed in the time elapsed since the survey was 

undertaken. Therefore, it is recommended that, prior to the felling of any semi-
mature or mature trees on site, a check for any dreys is carried out by a suitably 
qualified ecologist.

 Tree felling and hedge removal works should be scheduled to commence outside 
of the bird nesting season (i.e. avoiding the period between March and August 
inclusive). Where this is not possible, a check should be carried out on trees and 
hedgerows to be removed. This should be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
ecologist and works should be carried out no longer than 48 hours after the check. 
If nests are present, the hedgerow or tree must remain in situ until the young have 
fledged.

Subject to a suitably worded condition to secure these proposed mitigation measures, it 

Page 43



is considered that the proposal would not have any significant adverse effects on 
ecological interests. 

Trees/Hedgerows

Policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to protect trees and hedgerows where 
they are important to a community, have a positive impact on the character of the area or 
have nature conservation value. Proposals that involve felling/removal, will be resisted 
unless acceptable mitigation or compensation measures can be secured. The revised 
NPPF requires planning decisions that minimise impacts and provide net gains for 
biodiversity. 

The application has been supported by an Arboricultural Report and Impact Assessment, 
and an Arboricultural Method Statement (revised), and a further Ecology Report and 
addendum, which contains a Hedgerow Assessment.  

The Arboricultural Impact Assessment & Method Statement July 2018 confirms no 
tree/hedgerow removal to the boundaries of the site with the exception of the site 
frontage where the new access is proposed and visibility splays are required, triggering 
the removal of the existing hedge.  

Within the site, the proposal would require the removal of a relatively small number of 
trees, none of which were noted at the site visit as significant in terms of amenity value. 
The greater arborcultural impact is considered to arise from the removal of hedgerow.  
Hedgerow and tree removal within the site largely relates to the two main hedgerows that 
transect the site (H22) and a small number of trees that lie within these hedges, (G16, 
T18, T20,  G21) and a shorter hedge and small number of trees forming a further field 
boundary to the rear of 143a Main Road. All are considered within the submitted report 
as Category C classification with exception of H1, which is 40m long category B 
hedgerow. To the site frontage, 67m of hedgerow is proposed for removal, although it 
has been clarified by the applicant through a late submission that there is no proposal to 
remove further hedgerow to the south of the application site for construction compound. 

The Ecology Addendum confirms that the proposed development will result in the loss of 
approximately 450 metres of hedgerow, corrected to 405m to account for the amendment 
above. The ecologist confirms that these four hedgerows are not classified as ‘Important 
Hedges’ under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 with respect to wildlife and the landscape 
(it is noted that an assessment of historic or archaeological evidence has not been 
made).

To provide compensation for the loss of trees/hedgerow identified, the submission 
clarifies that it is proposed to plant approximately 280 metres of hedgerow along the 
southern site boundary. The new hedgerow would comprise hawthorn, blackthorn, hazel, 
holly and dog rose. The soft landscape scheme produced by Urban Green proposes the 
planting of 60 root balled standards and 10 container grown Pinus in order to 
compensate for tree removal. The introduction of the SUDS pond will provide a further 
element of biodiversity enhancement. 

The proposed development will therefore result in a loss of approximately 135 metres

Page 44



of hedgerow, which has not been classed as important hedgerow for the purposes of the 
Regulations.  The introduction of the pond and the level of tree planting proposed will 
provide some compensation for this loss. Further, the submitted Ecology report considers 
that the  replacement hedgerow along the southern site boundary will serve to prevent
habitat fragmentation and loss of connectivity associated with the loss of hedgerows
H3 and H4 and that the planting of a large number of trees scattered throughout the site 
associated with the new properties, which will act as habitat ‘stepping stones’ ensuring 
connectivity throughout the site. 

Having regard to the level of compensation proposed in terms of landscaping, the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to policies DM14 and DM17 of the 
ALPP1. 

Housing Mix/Affordable Housing

The proposal is considered to provide an acceptable range of house types and tenure in 
accordance with policy S7 of the ALPP1.

Policy S8 of the ALPP1 requires that, in Workington, developments of this scale will be 
required to provide 20% affordable housing provision, with a tenure mix of 75% social 
rented and 25% intermediate housing. However, this tenure split is proposed for revision 
as part of the ALPP2, changing to 50% affordable rent and 50% intermediate affordable 
units. As a further material consideration, the revised NPPF 2018, requires at least 10% 
of the homes provided to be available for affordable home ownership (unless this would 
exceed the need identified or significantly prejudice the ability to meet the identified 
affordable housing need). 

The proposal provides 23 affordable houses in total - 16 for social rented (4 x 1 bed flats,
10 x 2 bed houses, 2 x 3 bed houses) and 7 for discounted sale (Intermediate) (5 x 2 
bed, 2 x 4 bed). 

This equates to the required 20% provision under policy S8 at an estimated 70/30 split. 
Whilst this is marginally below the policy requirement, it is considered to be acceptable 
on the basis that the evidence base provided by the Allerdale Housing Study 2016, 
suggests that this tenure split is likely to change following the changes proposed under 
draft ALPP2 to a 50/50 split. It is noted that the provision for affordable home ownership 
falls short of the figure required by the revised NPPF, which in this instance would equate 
to 11 dwellings, leaving a provision of 12 units for social rent, not the 16 proposed. In this 
instance, the revised NPPF was published more than 12 months following the 
submission of the application and following extensive discussions with colleagues in 
Housing Services as to the local need and how this could be best met by the proposal. 
As such, whilst the revised NPPF is a material consideration, given that the proposal is 
identified as meeting a locally evidenced need that accords with the relevant Local Plan 
policy, then the affordable housing provision as amended is considered to be acceptable. 

Play Provision/Amenity Green Space

Policy S25 of the ALPP1 requires that new residential development makes provision for 
well-designed public open space, either through on site provision of new open space or 
by financial contribution to enhance or create off site provision of public open space. 

Page 45



DM14 specifies that new development should include high quality landscaping. The 
Council has an adopted Supplementary Planning Document that sets out requirements 
for open space provision, differentiating between amenity greenspace and provision for 
children and young people. For residential developments of over 80 units, the SPD 
indicates that provision for both should be on site. 

For amenity greenspace, the draft SPD specifies 15m2 per dwelling, equating to a 
requirement here of 1725m2. For children/young people, the requirement is 1.34 m2 per 
dwelling, equating to 154 m2. 

The proposal provides for approx. 1,427 m2 of amenity greenspace, consisting mainly of 
two areas of open space, one to the east and one centrally, the latter would contain an 
equipped play space, measuring approx. 145 m2. Whilst this provision falls short of the 
required standard, the figure provided by the applicant does not include for the proposed 
SUDS pond, which would be fenced and therefore not publicly accessible. However, the 
pond would still provide a biodiversity role, which the SPD accepts to be a function of 
open space, not simply for public amenity. With the inclusion of the pond, the SPD 
requirements for amenity greenspace would be exceeded. 

The equipped play area is indicated on the proposed plans, with details provided of play 
equipment consisting of two toddler swings, springy horse and see-saw, with seat and 
bin adjacent, within a landscaped area. The play area is located centrally within the site 
and fenced, and would be well overlooked in terms of security. To the west, the play area 
would be positioned adjacent to the private driveways and frontages of plots 87-90, at a 
distance of approx. 18m. To the east, the play area would be positioned adjacent the 
shared surface road opposite plots 93-96 at a distance of approx. 15m. As the play area 
lies adjacent to plot frontages which are public areas, the layout arrangements are 
considered to be acceptable and are similar to arrangements at the Whins Close 
development. 

Given the size of the estate proposed, amendments have been sought to the play 
equipment proposed to include an additional piece of equipment, such as a climbing 
frame/slide, and for replacement of one toddler swing with a standard swing, to provide 
for a wider age range than toddlers. The agent has confirmed a willingness to amend the 
play equipment specification to one which would meet the needs of a broader age range. 
It has not been possible to update the plans with a full specification and revision to the 
size of the play area. As such, Officers have recommended a condition be attached to 
any permission granted that would secure a minimum of four individual pieces of play 
equipment (excluding seating and bin) that provide for an age range of both 0-5 year olds 
and 5-9 year olds. Full details would need to be approved by condition and delivery 
would be required before the occupation of the 50th dwelling. 

Subject to this condition, the proposals for amenity greenspace and equipped play are 
considered to be acceptable in relation to policy S25 of the ALPP1 and the adopted SPD. 
 
Education Provision

Cumbria County Council (CCC) has indicated that, using a dwelling led model, the 
proposal is likely to yield 49 children, which equals 29 primary and 20 secondary pupils. 

Page 46



CCC advise that the development site is in the catchment of Beckstone Primary School 
[1.2 miles] and Workington Academy [2.9 miles] for secondary education. The former has 
no space to accommodate the yield, nor does St. Mary’s. However, CCC confirm that 
Distington Community Primary [1.9 miles], has places available which will accommodate 
the yield from this development, therefore no contribution for primary education is 
required. CCC confirm that there are sufficient places available in the catchment school 
of Workington Academy to accommodate the secondary pupil yield from this 
development, therefore no contribution for secondary education will be required.

On the basis of the Education Authority’s advice, it is considered that places exist within 
the statutory walking distance and therefore no commuted sums are required relating to 
the upgrade of local schools or for school transport. 

It is noted that there are a number of representations raising concerns with the direction 
of children to Distington School, particularly relating to the safety of the walking route. 
Further consultation has been undertaken with the County Council as a result of this. As 
noted above, the Traffic Management Team has confirmed that the pedestrian route from 
the application site to Distington village for school children is considered to be a ‘safe’ 
route. A pedestrian footpath extends the full length of the A597 to its eastern side, where 
traffic lights cross the A595. A guardrail footpath then extends around the roundabout to 
where the unclassified and B road routes off the roundabout can be crossed. 

To conclude on this matter, based on the advice of CCC, there are considered to be 
adequate places available within nearby schools and that particularly in relation to 
Distington school, the walking route is advised to be ‘safe’. 

Ground Conditions

The application has been supported by a Phase 1 Desk Top Study which concludes that 
the site is likely to be suitable for the development proposed, subject to further 
investigation and suitable mitigation. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer is 
satisfied that further investigation and mitigation can be secured by conditions. Subject to 
these conditions the proposal is considered to be in accordance with relevant policies of 
the ALPP1 and the advice contained within the NPPF.  

Heritage/Archaeology

Policy S27 of the ALPP1 seeks to protect heritage assets to a level appropriate to their 
significance. The application is supported by an archaeological desk-based assessment 
and geophysical survey of the site. The results indicate that there is a low potential for 
archaeological assets to be disturbed by the construction of the proposed development.
The County Archaeologist has concluded that the information provided is sufficient and 
no further conditions are recommended.  

There are no other heritage assets within the locality of such proximity that they would be 
impacted by the proposal.

The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in relation to policy S27 of the 
ALPP1. 

Page 47



Other Issues:

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, the proposal would have 
financial implications relating to New Homes Bonus and Council Tax Revenue.

Conclusion

High Harrington lies within the Principal Service Centre for the Borough within the  
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (ALPP1), to which the major new development is directed, 
including the largest proportion of new housing. The provision of an additional 115 
dwellings would contribute to and not exceed the requirement to be provided by the 
Principle Centre, and as a draft allocation with Part 2, it would not adversely impact on 
balance of the settlement hierarchy.  Whilst the proposal lies outside the existing 
settlement boundary, it is acknowledged that these boundaries are out of date and 
pending review. As the proposal adjoins the existing settlement boundary to the west, 
north and east, it is considered that the proposal is well related to the existing settlement. 
This scale of development is considered to be appropriate to the size of the settlement 
and the role it has been allocated as the Principle Centre within the adopted ALPP1.

Whilst representations have been received raising a number of concerns, particularly 
relating to the adjacent highway and drainage, the advice from both the Highways 
Authority/Lead Local Flood Authority and Highways England is that the adjacent highway 
network is capable of accommodating the development without raising any significant 
concerns.   

The proposal is not considered to have significant landscape and visual impacts from 
within the wider area, and the design of the scheme is considered to be compatible with 
the locality. Further to the amendments provided, and subject to a number of conditions, 
the impact of the proposal is on the existing residents adjoining the site is considered to 
be acceptable. 

Adverse impacts of the proposal principally relate to the loss of greenfield land and the 
resulting encroachment into the open countryside, loss of established hedgerows and 
some detriment to existing field patterns. The proposal will have other impacts that will be 
‘adverse’, such as increased traffic movements to local roads, an adverse change in the 
outlook for nearby residents, as set out above. Whilst these impacts are adverse impacts 
of the development, none are considered to be significant.  

The proposal will provide for 115 additional homes, contributing particularly to one of the 
key objectives of the NPPF to boost significantly the supply of housing. The proposal 
would contribute to strategic objective SO2c of the ALPP2, which seeks to ensure a 
deliverable supply of housing land that meets the needs of the community and local 
economy, as well as the Council Plan in terms of strengthening our economy - supporting 
the development of new homes where they are needed. The proposal would provide for 
23 additional affordable houses for social rent and discounted sale, increasing access to 
affordable housing, in accordance with strategic objective SO2d of the ALPP1 and the 
Council Plan’s priority of tackling inequality through the provision of more affordable 
housing.     The provision of additional housing would have economic benefits arising 

Page 48



from further investment in the construction industry and the associated retention of jobs 
directly and indirectly within the supply chain.  

Having regard to the requirements of Paragraph 11 of the NPPF and relevant policies of 
the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, it is considered that the identified adverse impacts of the 
proposal would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Therefore the 
recommendation is for approval, subject to the recommended conditions and a s106 
agreement to secure the provision of affordable housing.

Page 49



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

Time limit:

1.     The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning         
Act 1990.

Pre-commencement conditions: 

2.      Construction Management Plan:
No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition Method 
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning and 
compound areas;
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and 
light pollution.
(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;
(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
(f) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(g) Hours of working and deliveries;
(h) Details of lighting to be used on site;
(i)      Highway signage/ Haulage routes. 
(j)      Measures for the treatment and disposal of surface water during the 
construction phase. 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.
Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

3. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential 
to pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of 
works for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning 

Page 50



Authority prior to the commencement.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

4. Should land affected by contamination be identified following site 
investigations (condition 3), which poses unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall take place 
until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an 
appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description 
and programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

5. The carriageway, footways and footpaths of the housing scheme hereby 
approved shall be designed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for 
adoption and in this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross 
sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced. No work 
shall be commenced until a full specification has been approved. These 
details shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the current 
Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed before 
the development is fully occupied. 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

6. Prior to the commencement of works, details of the disposal of surface water 
drainage from the site (including attenuation measures), shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
details:
(a) Shall demonstrate that no flooding will occur on any part of the site 
for a 1 in 30 year event unless designed to do so, flooding will not occur to 
any building in a 1 in 100 year event plus 30 % to account for climate change, 
and where reasonably possible flows resulting from rainfall in excess of a 1 in 
100 year 6 hour rainfall event are managed in conveyance routes.  
(b) Shall be carried in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood 
Risk and Drainage Strategy prepared by Ironside Farrar Ltd dated April.
(c) Shall include a condition survey of the adjacent watercourse. 
The submitted details shall set out arrangements for ongoing management 
and maintenance of the drainage system over the lifetime of the development. 
The approved surface water drainage scheme shall be fully implemented 
before any part of the development is brought into use and shall be managed 
and maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and minimise 
the risk of flooding, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 

Page 51



Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan, Part 1, 2014. 

Accordance with approved details:

7.     The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
Location Plan (Concept drawing PL20)
Proposed Site Plan (Concept drawing PL21 Rev H)
Boundary Treatments Plan (Concept drawing PL24 Rev E)
Elevation Treatments Plan (Concept drawing PL23 Rev B)
Management Company Plan (Story Homes drawing SL157.90.9.MCP) 
Parking Plan (Story Homes drawing SL157.90.9.PPP Rev C)
Offset Distances (Story Homes drawing SL157.90.9.OD Rev B)
Site Sections (Story Homes drawing SL157.90.9.SEC Rev C)
Topographical Survey (RJP drawing SL009/TOO Rev A) 1 of 2
Topographical Survey (RJP drawing SL009/TOO Rev A) 2 of 2
Richmond House type Booklet (Planning Plans RIC-PLP1 rev A, Planning 
Elevations RIC- PLE 1/6 Rev A)
Reading House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 REA-PLP1, Planning 
Elevations 1/1 REA-PLE1/1)
Winchester House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 WIN-PLP1,  Planning 
Elevations 1/3, Planning Elevations 1/5)
Gosforth House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 GSF-PLP1,  Planning 
Elevations 1/1 GSF-PLE1/1, Planning Elevations 1/5)
Arundel House type Booklet  (Planning Plans ARU-PLP1,  Planning Elevations 
1/3 ARU-PLE1/3)
Hastings House type Booklet  (Planning Plans 1 HAS-PLP1,  Planning Plans 1-
1 HAS-PLP1-1,  Planning Elevations HAS-PLE1/3 rev A)
Warwick House type Booklet  (Planning Plans WAR-PLP1,  Planning 
Elevations 1/4 WAR-PLE1/4, WAR-PLE1/9)
Kingston House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 KIN-PLP1, Planning 
Elevations 1/2 KIN-PLE1/2, Planning Elevations 1/3 KIN-PLE1/3) 
Mayfair House type Booklet  (Planning Plans 1 MAY-PLP1, Planning Plans 1-1 
MAY-PLP1-1,  Planning Elevations 1/9 MAY-PLE1/9)
Boston House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 BOS-PLP1 Rev A, Planning 
Elevations 1/1 BOS-PLE1/1 Rev A,  Planning Elevations 1/7 BOS-PLE1/7 Rev 
B) 
Grantham House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 GRA-PLP1,  Planning 
Elevations 1/1 GRA-PLE1/1,  Planning Elevations 1/4 GRA-PLE1/4)
Wellington House type Booklet  (Planning Plans 1 WEL-PLP1, Planning 
Elevations 1/1 Rev A,  Planning Elevations WEL-PLE 1/5 Rev A)
Cambridge House type Booklet  (Planning Plans 1 CAM-PLP1,  Planning 
Elevations 1/1 CAM-PLE1/1,  Planning Elevations 1/3 CAM-PLE1/3)
Oxford House type Booklet  (Planning Plan 1 OXF-PLP1, Planning Elevations 
1/1 OXF-PLE1/1, Planning Elevations 1/2 Rev A, Planning Elevations 1/7 OXF-
PLE1/7)
Durham House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 DUR-PLP1, Planning 
Elevations 1/3 DUR-PLE 1/3, DUR-PLE 1/10)
Banbury House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 BAN-PLP1, Planning 

Page 52



Elevations 1/2 BAN-PLE 1/2 Rev A)
York House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 - YOR-PLP1, Planning Plans 3 - 
YOR-PLP3, Planning Elevations 1/4 YOR-PLE 1/4, Planning Elevations 3/2 -
YOR-PLE 3/2)
Hereford House type Booklet ( Planning Plans 1 HER-PLP1,  Planning 
Elevations 1/2 HER-PLE 1/2)
Willow House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 WIW-PLP1 Rev B, Planning 
Elevations 1/2 WIW-PLE1/2)
Hawthorn House type Booklet (Planning Plans 2 HAW-PLP2 Rev A, Planning 
Plans 3 HAW-PLP3, Planning Elevations 2/2 HAW-PLE2-2 Rev A, Planning 
Elevations HAW-PLE3/2 Rev A) 
Rowan House type Booklet (Planning Plans 1 ROW-PLP1, Planning Elevations 
1/2 Rev A)
Garage Booklet (Drawing Register GAR-REG rev Q, Single detached garage 2 
Elevations, Plans & Section 1 SG2-EPS1 Rev A, Single Detached Garage 2 
Elevations, Plans & Section 2 SG2-EPS2, Double Detached Garage 2 
Elevations, Plan & Section 1 DG2-EPS1 Rev A, Double Detached Garage 6 
Elevations, Plan & Section 1 DG6v1 - EPS1, Double Detached Garage 6 
Elevations, Plan & Section 2 DG6v1-EPS2)
Boundary Details Booklet (1800 High fence BD08 Rev A, 1100mm Railings BD-
09, 898mm High Brick Wall BD-14, 1762mm High Brick Wall BD-15, 1200 High 
Stock Fence BD-25, 450-600mm High Stone Wall, 1800mm Acoustic Fence 
BD-44, 1200mm High Netting Fence BD-52)
Site Access & EVA Plan (i-Transport drawing ITM10137-GA-014)
General Arrangement Plan (Urban Green drawing 10702_L01 Rev P03)
Hard Landscape Plan (Urban Green drawing 10702_L02 Rev P03)
Soft Landscape Plan (1 of 4) (Urban Green drawing 10702_L03 Rev P03)
Soft Landscape Plan (2 of 4) (Urban Green drawing 10702_L04 Rev P03)
Soft Landscape Plan (3 of 4) (Urban Green drawing  10702_L05 Rev P03)
Soft Landscape Plan (4 of 4) (Urban Green drawing 10702_L06 Rev P03)
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

Post commencement/Pre - start conditions for certain elements:

8.     Notwithstanding the approval plans, no development shall commence on the 
construction of Plot 25 until a revised scheme has been submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing for the treatment of level 
changes and any raised terrace or decking to the rear of the proposed 
dwelling. The development shall be completed only in accordance with the 
approved details.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is undertaken in a manner that would not 
give rise to significant overlooking to no.33 Harringdale Drive.  

9. Notwithstanding the approved plans, where any re-contouring of ground 
levels within the development would result in retaining walls or structures 
exceeding 1.0m in height, full details of the retaining walls or structures shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning authority for approval in writing before 
their implementation. Any such structures shall be implemented only in 

Page 53



accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme and to ensure a good standard of housing 
environment for future occupiers, in accordance with policies S4 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10. Notwithstanding the approval of Boundary Treatment Plan Rev D, the section 
of acoustic fencing proposed to project forward towards the site frontage 
from the side elevation of the garage to Plot 68 forward to the site frontage 
shall not be implemented. Should acoustic treatment be essential at this 
location, then the proposed stone wall on the same alignment shall be 
increased in height to 1.8m. 
Reason: To ensure that the approved boundary treatment is appropriate for the 
location and achieves a high standard of design.

11. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, the equipped play area shall incorporate 
as a minimum four individual pieces of play equipment (excluding seating and 
bin) that provide for an age range of both 0-5 year olds and 5+ year olds. Full 
details of the play equipment and its layout shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval prior to any works commencing on the 
equipped play area. The equipped play area shall be constructed and 
available for use before the 50th dwellinghouse hereby approved is occupied. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory provision of play equipment that meets the needs 
for future residents of the development, in accordance with policy S25 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

13. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with recommendations 
and mitigation measures submitted within the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment & Method Statement, prepared by Open Green and dated 
November 2018.
Reason: To ensure that existing trees and hedgerows to be retained as part of the 
development are adequately protected during the construction of the development, 
in accordance with policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

Page 54



14. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations and mitigation measures contained within the submitted 
Ecological Appraisal by Urban Green dated April 2017. 
Reason: To minimise the impacts of the development on the ecological interests of 
the site in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and Policy S35 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

15. Prior to works commencing on the construction of the Emergency Vehicle 
Access hereby approved, details of the design/construction of the Emergency 
Vehicle Access shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval in writing. The Emergency Vehicle Access shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the Emergency Vehicle Access is constructed in a manner 
that would minimise its impact on the rural character of the locality. 

16. Foul drainage from the development shall be connected to the public sewer. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of foul drainage and to minimise the risk of 
water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

17. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above 
ground floor level until details of all external and roofing materials have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Only the 
materials so approved shall be used in the development as approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of the 
surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Before Occupation conditions:

18.    Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 4, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development 
(or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

19. The sound attenuation measures detailed in the submitted noise assessment 
(RS Acoustic engineering Ltd noise impact assessment reference 170/2016 
dated March 2017) shall be fully implemented prior to the beneficial 
occupation of the development and permanently retained thereafter. 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate standard of housing environment in accordance 
with policies S4 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

20. A landscaping management plan including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 

Page 55



areas including public open space, landscaped buffers and play area shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the occupation of any dwellinghouse hereby approved. The development 
shall thereafter be maintained at all times in accordance with the approved 
management plan. 
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open 
space and landscaped buffers within the residential estate.

21. No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road, including footways and 
cycleways and private road where necessary to serve that dwelling, has been 
constructed in all respects to base course level and street lighting where it is 
to form part of the estate road has been provided and brought into full 
operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety of the occupiers of residential units 
hereby approved.

22. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays providing 
clear visibility of 57.6 x 53.8 metres measured 2.4 metres down the centre of 
the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road have been 
provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

23. The Emergency Vehicle Access hereby approved shall be constructed and be 
capable of use before the occupation of the 101st dwellinghouse hereby 
approved. The Emergency Vehicle Access shall be retained thereafter for the 
lifetime of the development. 
Reason: A second emergency access route is considered necessary for this scale 
of development, in the interests of public safety.

Post construction conditions: 

24.   All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme and shown on 
the landscaping plans approved herein shall be carried out in the first 
planting season following completion of the development and any trees or 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality, in compliance with Policy DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Page 56



25. Following completion of the development hereby approved, an annual report 
reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan for a period of  5 years, 
including any necessary amendments or further measures, as well as timing 
for their implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing  by the 
Local Planning Authority. Any amendments hereby approved shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved timescales.
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from the 
operational use of the site in accordance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1) 2014.

NOTES TO APPLICANT 

A condition has been placed which requires approval of any retaining features 
exceeding 1.0m in height. This is to ensure that any significant level changes (in-
combination with any boundary treatment) would not be visually oppressive for 
future residents. As such, where level changes between plots are significant, design 
measures such as terracing or sloping of land should be incorporated to ensure that 
future residents are not adversely impacted by inappropriately designed retaining 
walls and boundary treatments. 

For the avoidance of doubt, this planning permission does not give consent for the 
removal of the hedgerow to the frontage of the field directly to the south of the 
proposal site in its entirety. Any removal is limited to the width of the Emergency 
Vehicle Access proposed.  

Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0097

Proposed 
Development:

Change of use of farm building to biomass CHP unit with 
associated chimneys (retrospective)

Location: Langrigg Hall
Langrigg
Wigton

Applicant: Mr E Gate

Recommendation: Refuse and pursue enforcement action 

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development 

Policy S19 0f the Local Plan (Part 1) seeks to promote and 
encourage the development of renewable and low carbon energy 
resources given the significant wider environmental, community 
and economic benefits. 

Design/Visual 
Impact 

The chimneys are viewed in the context of large farm buildings and 
against the backdrop of the line of pylons. They assimilate into the 
environment of existing buildings, and do not exert a harmful 
impact on the character and appearance of the locality, in 
accordance with policies S4 and S33.

Amenity Whilst the applicant has been able to demonstrate the proposal is 
acceptable in terms of air quality, they have failed to demonstrate 
this with regards to noise.

The supported noise reports demonstrates an unacceptable level 
of noise is produced by the units. Allerdale require mitigation to 
ensure that the daytime rated level is no more than 5 dB above 
background noise level and at night time that the rated noise level 
does not increase above background noise level. The proposal is 
contrary to Policies S2, S4 and S32.

Heritage Impact The chimneys are viewed in line with the context of the farm 
buildings with the existing planting and proposed additional 
planting offering some screening of the chimneys from the Listed 
Building. It is considered that the very small impact upon the 
setting of the listed building would be outweighed by the public 
benefits of the low carbon benefits of the CHP plant. In terms of 
impact on the heritage asset, officers consider the proposal to be 
acceptable and in line with Policy S27.

Highway Issues Taking into account the existing use and the information provided, 
it is considered the proposal will be unlikely to have a material 
effect on existing highway conditions.

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



Proposal

The applicant seeks retrospective permission for the change of use of an existing farm 
building to a biomass CHP. The development seeks the retention of 1 Biomass CHP unit 
and 2 RHI units within the building, with the external alteration to the building including 
the construction of 3 external chimneys. 

Site

The application is an existing operational farmstead lying in the village of Langrigg. The 
farmhouse is a Grade II Listed Building set back from the highway, within extensive 
grounds and enclosed by a sandstone wall. Existing modern farm buildings lie to the 
northeast and extend forward to the southeast of the farmhouse. 

The site operates intensive livestock units (ILUs) from modern farm buildings to the 
northern part of the farm complex. There are a range of modern agricultural buildings 
southeast of the farmhouse with the buildings in question lying to the south (front) of the 
site with the Listed Building to the northwest and dwellings in the village to the southeast, 
south and west.

Relevant History

2/2018/0098 Retrospective permission for a replacement general purpose shed – 
pending.

Representations

Bromfield Parish Council 

Objection. Bromfield Parish Council strongly object to this application due to the odour, 
noise and smoke, environmental impact and health issues this business will cause. 
Transport/highways – the roads are insufficient for the increased level of heavy traffic this 
industry will bring about. Great concern that the farm is being turned into an industrial site 
as opposed to agricultural (03/04/18).

The Parish Council have fully discussed the Noise Impact Assessment and Air Quality 
Report Odour Survey and our objection in relation to this application still stands. 

The Council question the validity of the surveys since they are not independent nor 
impartial as they are funded by the applicant and consider the tests not credible, having 
been monitored from bizarre locations around the village & the impact of the chipping 
operation being estimated.

Great concerns remain in respect to what is being burnt and will be in the future, whilst 
the smell and smoke are not as bad as they were, there are no warrants in place to stop 
such an occurrence again.

Page 62



Additionally, the fact that the traffic monitoring surveys were not carried out covertly and 
partially on the wrong road does not help with the traffic surveys credibility and accuracy.

The application still fails to demonstrate the environmental impacts on residents and the 
reality that a large proportion of houses in the locality are now on the market to be sold. 

The survey reports provide no additional information to mitigate our identified issues and 
therefore Bromfield Parish Council is still of the opinion that this application should be 
refused (06.08.18). 

Bromfield Parish Council have considered the additional information and would like to 
make the following comments:

- The modified chimney has done nothing to alleviate the low lying smoke.
- The air quality has been measured using a desk top approach and is not based on 

their own onsite operational testing.
- The noise readings show the current noise levels to be 9 dB and therefore causes 

an adverse impact.
- The actual amount of log deliveries to the site exceeds the amount stated in the 

application (23.11.18). 

ABC Environmental Health 

Environmental Health have reviewed the further submitted information. Please see the 
following comments and recommendations:

 Noise - Elevated BS 4142:2014 rated levels were given by the Apex Acoustic 
Report. Noise complaints have also been made by local residents of varying 
proximity to the plant. Given the elevated levels Noise mitigation measures are 
expected by Environmental Health. Allerdale require mitigation to ensure that the 
daytime rated level is no more than 5 dB above background noise level and at 
night time that the rated noise level does not increase above background noise 
level. Despite discussion and time extension no further mitigation has been offered 
by the applicant. Environmental Health therefore object and recommend refusal of 
this application in relation to non-mitigated noise disturbance to local residents.

 Air Quality - The Syntegra air quality report ref 18-4275 dated July 2018 considers 
the emissions of NOx and PM10 and PM2.5 from the biomass plant as well as 
considering emissions of ammonia from the poultry houses. The report states 
these are all within acceptable standards. The report takes a desk top approach 
and states that operational parameters for the units were supplied by FEC Energy 
Limited and not based on their own onsite operational testing. Complaints have 
been received regarding smoke emissions grounding on a frequent basis. Smoke 
from the units have been witnessed to drop to ground level.  Justification for this 
has been stated by the applicant to be due to trialling a different fuel being olive 
pellets. he only fuel stated to be used on site is now wood chip

To prevent further detriment to the community in relation to Air Quality and smoke 
Environmental Health recommend the following conditions are attached to any 
approval.

Page 63



All operations on site should be undertaken in compliance with the submitted 
document On Site Processes Ref:18.013

Compliance with the below conditions should be within two months

Fuel conditions

 The biomass boiler shall only be operated using clean virgin wood chip with a 
moisture content of 25% or less. The fuel must be compliant with a recognised 
fuel quality standard. The relevant fuel standard must be agreed by Allerdale.

 Details of the monthly fuel sampling and fuel sampling process should be 
provided to Allerdale Borough Council for approval.

 A statement shall be submitted annually to the local authority specifying the 
quantity of wood chip used in the biomass boiler, and the fuel specifications in 
accordance with the agreed recognised standard. (The statement shall be 
obtained from the fuel sampling process.)

Reason; Emissions from a biomass boiler depend greatly on the type and quality 
of the fuel used. Reasonable guarantees are therefore needed that the fuel is 
compatible with the boiler, is of a high quality and that quality will be assured for a 
reasonable period of time) 

Maintenance conditions

 The biomass boiler shall be associated with a written schedule of maintenance, 
which shall include removal of ash, inspection and maintenance of particulate 
arrestment equipment, boiler servicing and stack cleaning. Plans for identifying 
and rectifying system failures should also be requested. The detailed 
maintenance schedule shall be submitted to Allerdale for approval and 
available for inspection on request.

Reason: System efficiency and emissions performance greatly depends upon 
regular maintenance) (19/11/18)

Cumbria Highways 

There are anecdotal reports of significant increases in the HGV traffic movements to the 
site over those identified in the applicants Design and Access Statement of one per 
week; this point should be clarified by the applicant before the application is determined 
(06/08/18).  

Taking into account the existing use of the property and the information submitted, it is 
considered that the proposal will be unlikely to have a material effect on existing highway 
conditions. I can therefore confirm that the Highway Authority has no objection to the 
proposal (27/09/18).

Page 64



The application has been advertised on site and in the local paper. Adjoining 
owners have been notified. 15 letters of objection have been received from 12 
objectors

 The concerns relate too:

 I cannot understand how a retrospective planning application may be allowed in 
this case. Such disregard for the correct legal procedure effectively denies the 
community the opportunity for consultation with the owner and authorities prior to 
a decision. 

 The proximity of the plant to the village itself and the implications to the health of 
residents due to heavy smoke emissions at certain times during the burning 
process. 

 Due to low lying of the village at times of slow wind speed the smoke can get 
trapped within the houses causing a dense smog of smoke and can filter into our 
homes.

 In respect of air pollution it seems that the visible smoke/fumes has reduced in the 
past months. However, because this change was only in response to reaction from 
the community, it is unclear whether this reduction is permanent or a temporary 
change.

 In addition to the smoke there is a constant drone which has disturbed the once 
peaceful village, this noise continues into the late evening and on occasion 
present all night.

 The fact that the plant operates continuously 24 hours a day has a direct impact 
on the quality of life of residents in the village. 

 There has been a large increase to traffic coming into the village, this usually 
being large timber lorries and other articulated vehicles delivering to the site. The 
road are not suitable for such large vehicles. They are damaging the grass verges.

 The farm is turning into an industrial process. 
 The noise report does not take account of the prevailing winds.
 The air quality report does not state where the biomass boilers were running at full 

capacity when the findings were recorded.
 There has been less large vehicles passing through the village in the past few 

weeks transporting fuel, which may also make the vehicle recording biased. 
 The traffic survey has no bearing on this application as the vehicle was not 

positioned or on the roads connecting to the applicant. 

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved settlement limits 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles

Page 65



Policy S19 – Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies 
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 – Landscape
Policy S36 – Air. Water and Soil Quality
Policy DM6 - Equestrian and agricultural buildings
Policy DM15 – Extensions and Alterations to Existing Building and Properties 

Other Material Considerations

Draft Allerale Borough Local Plan (Part 2)
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018

Policy weighting   

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy. 

There are material considerations, including the NPPF and the Little Broughton appeal 
decision (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which affect the weight afforded to the 
1999 Local Plan settlement limits and policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to 
the extent where they refer to those settlement limits and the housing numbers for each 
settlement. However, these are of no relevance here and the Part 1 Local Plan policies 
that are relevant are considered to have consistency with the NPPF and afforded full 
weight.

Assessment

Introduction

The units generate electricity which is used to both off set the existing farm energy use 
and also export additional to the National Grid. In addition to energy the applicant has 
confirmed that the boilers are used to provide drying areas for paper for bedding for the 
adjacent chicken sheds operated from the farm and drying of grass and straw and also 
drying of maize, wheat and barley for feed. With the exception of the paper they are all 
crops from the farm

The Biomass Units and RHI units can generally be installed within existing building 
without the need for planning permission. Therefore, when the first unit was installed 
within an existing building at the time planning permission was not required. 

Part 14 Class N of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Page 66



(England) Order 2015 relates to “the installation, alteration or replacement of a flue, 
forming part of a microgeneration biomass heating system on building others than 
dwellinghouse or flats or their curtilage.” Since the installation of the biomass system 
recent alterations have been made for the erection of 3 external chimneys approx. 3m in 
height. These works result in permission being required for the units including the 
external alterations.

Principle 

Policy S19 of the Local Plan (Part 1) seek to promote and encourage the development of 
renewable and low carbon energy resources given the significant wider environmental, 
community and economic benefits. 

It is consistent with the NPPF, paragraph 154 reads “When determining planning 
applications for renewable and low carbon development, local planning authorities 
should:

a) Not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable of low 
carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable 
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and

b) Approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. Once 
suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been identified in plans, 
local planning authorities should expect subsequent applications for commercial 
scale projects outside these areas to demonstrate that the proposed location 
meets the criteria used in identifying suitable areas.”

It is clear that there are benefits arising from this development and its contribution to the 
local carbon economy and specifically the “significant wider environmental. Community 
and economic benefits” cited by policy S19. Indeed the policy advises that, where 
proposals can be made acceptable, they will be permitted.

Noise

Policy S19 advises that the Council will take a positive view if proposals do not have an 
unacceptably adverse impact on the amenity of local residents and noise is one of the 
issues cited in this criterion.
The criterion has consistency with the NPPF. Paragraph 180 of the latter requires 
“planning policies and decision should also ensure that new development is appropriate 
for its location taking into account the likely affects (including cumulative effects) of 
pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential 
sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development. 
In doing so they should:

a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise 
from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts 
on health and the quality of life;

b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by 
noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason”

Page 67



Policy S32 of the Local Plan similarly contains, albeit more generic, considerations in 
relation to noise impact on amenity.

Nearby residents have reported being affected by noise said to be from activities 
associated with the CHP and Bio Mass operations. No noise assessment was originally 
submitted with the application and the appellant was requested to provide a full Noise 
Assessment in accordance with BS4142:2014 relevant to the Bio Mass and CHP 
Operations.

Whilst the Apex Acoustics assessment is satisfactory, the results of the assessment are 
not satisfactory. The night-time background sound level is 30 dB with the calculated 
rating level of the CHP is 39 dB. A level of 9 dB above background sound level indicates 
a significant adverse impact. With results of this level above background noise we would 
be expecting mitigation measures to be put in place in order to ensure that daytime rated 
level is no more than 5 dB above background noise level and at night time that the rated 
noise level does not increase above background noise level.

Whilst the applicant has been requested to provide mitigation measures, no information 
has been forthcoming and, therefore, the application is being determined in term of 
impact from noise on the amenity of existing properties nearby based on the findings in 
the submitted noise report. 

Given the siting of the proposal in a quiet rural location officers consider that, in the 
absence of attenuation, the development results in a poor standard of amenity for 
existing occupiers of the village by virtue of noise from the CHP and biomass units 
contrary to Policy S19 and S32 and paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Air Quality/Emissions

Again both policies S19 and S32 of the adopted Local Plan Part 1 are relevant.

The units are the Lin-ka HE1500 995kw which have an efficiency rating of 90%. In 
relation to emissions, the units are fitted with a cyclone filter to remove particulates to 
ensure they are not released into the flue system and therefore there is no ash from the 
development. This is kept within the boiler chamber and emptied on a regular basis from 
an ash bin.

The applicant has submitted a document called “On Site Processes” which outlines the 
processes which are undertaken at Langrigg Farm in relation to the CHP unit and 
Biomass Units. This reports details the first step of the process to the end as detailed 
below:

- The logs are delivered to site and stored for approximately 1 month before 
processing occurs.

- Logs are chipped on a monthly cycle. Machinery is hired in for this process and 
consists of 1 day a month between the hours of 8am – 6pm. The wood is moved 
into a barn adjacent to the CHP and biomass units and stored until required.

- Prior to use, the woodchips are tested on site using a moisture metre to ensure 
they are sufficiently dry. 

Page 68



- All feeding of the machines is automated in order to ensure maximum efficiency of 
the units.

- Once the collection point for the ash created by the fuel burning process is full 
(approx. 1 month) it is emptied and taken to Harrisons at Silloth where it is 
disposed of.

- The machines are serviced and monitored daily by an employee.

At the time the application was lodged both Planning and Environmental Health officers 
had received recent complaints from nearby residents regarding the operation of the 
units. A visit to nearby complainants and Langrigg Hall was conducted on the 4/4/18 by 
an ABC Environmental Health Officer who witnessed smoke to be dropping to ground 
level and collecting around the surrounding locality. It was evident that smoke emissions 
from the Biomass Plant were not gaining adequate dispersal and therefore officers had 
concerns as to the operation of the Biomass Plant in their present state.

The operation of the units should not result in smoke emissions at ground level and 
therefore the applicant was advised that this needed to be investigated. At this time 
Environmental Health officers advised that improvements appeared to be required to the 
Biomass Plant and, therefore, based on the limited submitted information with the 
application they objected to the proposal.

Through discussions with the applicant and additional information submitted with the 
application it appears the initial complaints regarding low level smoke was due to trialling 
different fuel, specifically olive pellets.
  
The Syntegra air quality report ref 18-4275 dated July 2018 considers the emissions of 
NOx and PM10 and PM2.5 from the biomass plant as well as considering emissions of 
ammonia from the poultry houses. The report states these are all within acceptable 
standards. The report takes a desk top approach and states that operational parameters 
for the units were supplied by FEC Energy Limited and not based on their own onsite 
operational testing.

The only fuel stated to be used on site is now wood chip which can be controlled via 
condition. Environmental Health Officers are satisfied that the applicant has fully 
investigated the potential impact from emissions from the site. To prevent further 
detriment to the community in relation to Air Quality and smoke, ABC Environmental 
Health recommend a series of conditions are attached to any approval.

Design/Visual Impact 

Policy S4 of the Local Plan Part 1 focuses on the need for high standards of design and 
provides a series of criteria against which developments should be assessed. These 
include a positive response to the character of the area, its distinctiveness, history and 
need for integration with existing development. Such considerations are also repeated in 
the landscape policy, S33.

The biomass and heat units have been installed within the confines of an existing modern 
agricultural building to the southern part of the farm. However, due to issues with smoke, 
the applicant has stated a requirement to increase the height of the flues to ameliorate 
the effects of such. The application seeks permission for the erection of three external 

Page 69



chimneys on different parts of the building as currently built on site. These chimneys are 
approx. 3m in height and are fitted with filters to ensure emissions are clean. 

The chimneys are viewed in the context of large farm buildings and against the backdrop 
of the line of pylons. The farm itself is set in a slight depression and, as a consequence, 
the chimneys are not prominent in the landscape.  They are consistent with the scale of 
the buildings, and do not exert a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the 
locality, in accordance with policies S4 and S33.

Heritage Issues

The two storey farmhouse that lies to the northwest of the application site is a Grade II 
Listed Building. 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states 
“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the 
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.” 

The Council therefore has a duty to have a special regard on developments which may 
affect the character or setting of the listed building. The Listed Building lies to the 
northwest of the agricultural building at a distance of approx. 90m. The Grade II Langrigg 
Hall dates from 1700s but has significant high quality Georgian detailing. It is considered 
that most of its significance is derived from this architectural quality and history but, 
nevertheless, the setting is integral to this history and contributes to the overall 
significance. 

In addition to the farmyard and surrounding farm buildings, it is considered the important 
part of its setting is the farmland to the front of the house as this provides significant 
views of the house, which was clearly orientated to be seen and as a show of relative 
wealth. The Listed Building has a separate vehicle access from that which serves the 
existing farmstead. There are some existing trees along the west boundary of the fence 
that provide some screening to the building. 

The CHP plant is located within an existing building and as such does not have any 
additional impact upon the setting of the Hall. However, the proposal includes the 
addition of 3 chimneys which will be seen within some views of the Hall.

The nearest chimney to the Hall is approx. 80m away and will be seen in the context of 
the modern farm buildings and partly screened by trees from main views of the listed 
building. The applicant is proposing some further planting with the details proposed 
acceptable to officers with the planting secured via condition. 

The chimneys in their current form being aluminium finish have the potential for the 
reflection of sunlight (or any other lights) which could result in harm to the listed building. 
This has been discussed with the applicant and they have not proposed the finish to be 
altered. However, having viewed the proposal at various times of the year officers do not 
consider the chimneys in the correct state result in an unacceptable harm to the setting of 

Page 70



the listed building give the separation distance. Taking into consideration the issues 
discussed above officers are satisfied that the proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Building.

It is considered that, the very small impact upon the setting of the listed building would be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the energy efficiency, and therefore low carbon, 
benefits of the CHP plant. In weighing up the benefits of the proposal officers consider 
these outweigh the slight harm to the setting of the listed building and does not warrant a 
refusal on this ground. 

In terms of impact on the heritage asset, officers consider the proposal to be acceptable 
and in line with Policy S27 and paragraph 196 on the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Highways Issues

The initial information submitted with the application inferred that there was very little 
traffic movements associated with the units and the Highways Authority therefore raised 
no objections to the proposal. Residents raised concerns that the information provided 
within the planning statement was not a true reflection of the traffic movements 
associated with the site. 

The Council served a Planning Contravention Notice to gain more understanding of the 
operations on the farm and the associated traffic movements. The drying of the bed and 
the wood chip is predominately used on site. However, the applicant has confirmed from 
April  to June the paper removed on a farm to farm basis accounts for approximately 25% 
of the paper product produced on the farm and a minimum of 95% of the wood chippings 
produced are used on the farm with some minimal off site use on a farm to farm basis.

The applicant has updated the Planning Statement submitted with the application to 
include the highway movements and the Highways Authority have been re-consulted. 
The Highways Authority have replied “Taking into account the existing use of the property 
and the information submitted, it is considered that the proposal will be unlikely to have a 
material effect on existing highway conditions. I can therefore confirm that the Highway 
Authority has no objection to the proposal”.

The proposal is therefore considered acceptable from a highway perspective.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will not 
result in any local financial consideration.

Conclusion

The principle of the development is supported by Policy S19 of the Local Plan (Part 1) 
which seeks to promote and encourage the development of renewable and low carbon 
energy resources given the significant wider environmental, community and economic 
benefits. However the constraints of the site and other material considerations need to be 

Page 71



fully assessed.

The external alterations proposed relate solely to the addition of 3 chimneys stacks. The 
design of these and the impact on the setting of the Listed Building are considered 
acceptable. 

In considering the impact on amenity from the proposed operations, the applicant has 
been able to demonstrate that the proposal will not have an unacceptable impact with 
regards to air quality. However, the findings of the noise assessment demonstrate that 
the proposal, as it is currently operating, is likely to have a significant adverse impact on 
surrounding residential properties. In the absence of any proposed mitigation measures 
the applicant has failed to demonstrate the units will not significantly impact on the 
existing amenity previously enjoyed by residents of this rural village. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy S2, S4 and S32 of the Local Plan.

The harm caused by the increased noise levels in officer’s opinion does not outweigh the 
benefits of using renewable technology. Should members be minded to refuse the 
application it is considered appropriate that enforcement action should be taken. 

Page 72



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. The Local Planning Authority consider that, without mitigation measures to ensure 
that the daytime rated level is no more than 5 dB above background noise level and 
at night time that the rated noise level does not increase above background noise 
levels, the proposed operating CHP Unit and Biomass Units has an unacceptable 
impact on the amenity of existing residential properties within this rural village. The 
proposal is considered contrary to Policies S2, S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Pan 
(part 1), Adopted July 2014 and paragraphs 154 and 180 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Proactive Statement

1) Application Refused With Discussion – No way forward proposed within 
timescales 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, the development plan 
policies, any duties applicable and also all material considerations, including 
emerging Local Plan policy, the National Planning Policy Framework and any 
stakeholder representations that may have been received. In this context, having 
identified matters of concern with the proposal and discussed those with the 
applicant, unfortunately, it has not been possible to resolve all those matters within 
the timescale allocated for the determination of this planning application.  However, 
the Local Planning Authority has clearly set out within its report the outstanding 
matters needing to be remedied to address the harm identified within the reasons for 
refusal. This may potentially lead to the submission of a more acceptable proposal in 
the future.  The Local Planning Authority is willing to provide, without prejudice, pre-
application advice in respect of any future application for a revised development.  

Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0098

Proposed 
Development:

Erection of replacement general purpose shed (retrospective for its 
retention)

Location: Langrigg Hall
Langrigg
Wigton

Applicant: Mr E Gate

Recommendation: Grant permission

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Design, scale and 
siting 

The building is to be sited on the footprint of a previous building 
achieving a good relationship with the working farmstead, with the 
material to match those on the farm. The applicant has provided 
sufficient justification for the height of the building.

Heritage Impact The farmhouse which lies to the east of the application site is a 
Grade II Listed Building. Officers considers that, although the 
height of the building will have some impact on the Listed Building, 
this is less than substantial and is outweighed by the benefits of 
the proposal.

Proposal

The applicant seeks retrospective permission for a replacement general purpose shed. 
The building has a footprint of 1,462 m2. The previous building was destroyed in a fire. 

Site

The application site forms an existing operating farmstead lying in the village of Langrigg. 
The farmhouse is a Grade II Listed Building set back from the highway sat within 
extensive grounds and enclosed by a sandstone wall. Existing modern farm buildings lie 
to the northeast and extend forward to the southeast of the farmhouse. 

Relevant History

2/2012/0571 Roof over existing silage pit – Approved.

2/1993/0768 Erection of slurry store – Approved.

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



Representations

Parish Council 

Object. This replacement shed is double the size of the previous shed. The application 
states it is a ‘cattle shed’ but the applicants have no cattle. Concerns that it is going to be 
used for industrial purposes, to house a paper bailing machine. The farm is being turned 
into an industrial site as opposed to agricultural.

ABC Environmental Health – I have considered the information provided by the 
applicant and, provided the use of the general purpose shed remains to be the same as 
the previous use, then I can confirm that I have no objections to this application and no 
conditions to recommend. 

Cumbria Highways – The Highway Authority has no objections to the proposed 
development as it is considered that the proposal does not affect the highway. 

Cumbria Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) – The LLFA do not have any records of 
flooding on this site and the Environment Agency surface water maps do not indicate that 
the site is in an area of risk.

Fire Officer – No reply to date. 

The application has been advertised on site and in the local paper. Adjoining owners 
have been notified. 6 letters of objections have been received. Their concerns relate too:

 The application states that the shed is a ‘Cattle shed’ to replace the shed 
destroyed by the large fire in February this year. If the new construction is part of 
the biomass operation it should be stated as such and its specific use be 
considered in that context.

 The effects of the two retrospective applications in relation to noise, odour and 
traffic impacts and the effect they have on the local community should be fully 
considered.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

There are no saved policies relevant, with the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 Adopted July 
2014 carrying most weight.

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles 
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets

Page 78



Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy DM6 - Equestrian and agricultural buildings 

Other Material Considerations

Draft Allerale Borough Local Plan (Part 2)
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018

Policy weighting   

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy. 

There are material considerations, including the NPPF and the Little Broughton appeal 
decision (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which affect the weight afforded to the 
1999 Local Plan settlement limits and policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to 
the extent where they refer to those settlement limits and the housing numbers for each 
settlement. However, these are of no relevance here and the Part 1 Local Plan policies 
that are relevant are considered to have consistency with the NPPF and afforded full 
weight.

Assessment

Design, Scale and Siting

The applicant is seeking retrospective permission for a general purpose agricultural 
building. Policy DM6 of the Allerdale Local Plan relating to agricultural buildings supports 
new agricultural buildings where:

“ a) New development is, where possible, closely related to existing farm buildings or 
other groups of buildings, and where this Is not possible, development is designed and 
sited to minimise impact on the landscape setting;
b) Buildings respect and enhance the rural character of the local area in terms of design, 
scale, siting, external appearance and construction materials”

The proposed building is sited on the footprint of a previous agricultural building that was 
destroyed in a fire. The siting of the building within the farmstead achieves a satisfactory 
relationship with the existing buildings and the existing vehicular access routes will be 
utilised.

The building has been constructed in concrete panels for the lower section with juniper 

Page 79



green sheeting above, with a grey profile sheeting roof. The materials are considered 
acceptable and tie in with the existing buildings on the site and the buildings that were 
previously located in this location.

The major difference with the building that has been erected from the previously 
approved building (2/2012/0571) and from what was on site prior to the fire, is the scale, 
specifically the overall height. The footprint of the building has not significantly altered at 
1,462 m2. The applicant has tried to reduce the impact while taking into consideration the 
working practices of the farm and has stepped the roofline down. The lower part of the 
roof building measures 11.5m to the ridge with the highest part extending to a ridge 
height of 14.4m. Officers acknowledge that the overall height of the building is significant 
given other approvals in the Borough and therefore a full justification was requested in 
relation to the need for a building of this height.

The applicant has provided a statement from IRM Safety, a health and safety consultant, 
with regards to the needs for the height in relation to the application. IRM Safety work 
with a large number of farming and transport related businesses. They highlight that 
moving vehicles and workplace transport is one of the major hazard on farms, accounting 
for 23% of all fatalities and therefore the control of traffic movements is essential part of a 
working farm.   

The email states “The yard at Langrigg is very busy and , in particular, around the 
building in question which is at the centre of the yard and having the main thoroughfare 
going past with a range of buildings to the site, all need access not only by vehicles but, 
also, by employees on foot. Therefore, the need to remove or reduce vehicle movements 
is imperative. 

Our key aims with risk reduction controls in relation to moving vehicles would be as 
follows:

 Eliminate moving vehicles – whilst moving vehicles cannot be eliminated 
completely around the yards, within the building in question they can be. At 14.5 
metres high the building allows for a bulk trailer to be tipped without the need for 
moving backwards and forwards into the yard.

 Reduction in vehicle movements – as above, the building reduces the need for 
movement in an out, reducing the number of vehicle actions to two (reverse in 
fully, stop, tip, drive out).

 Prevention of contact – again, the vehicle inside the building we can reduce 
contact whilst unloading, obviously there is still the need to drive in and out but we 
feel that this can be adequately controlled.

 Controlled environments – we have been involved in a number of accidents 
involving HGV vehicles on farm relating to poor working environments such as 
unstable ground, poor access and egress, tipping trailers at angles, tipping in tight 
buildings or near to electrical cables, the current design of the building removes all 
of these hazards and will allow for safe tipping of HGV vehicles.

As we view the building, if the height were to be reduced, it will undoubtedly increase the 
level of risk when tipping bulk trailers.”

Page 80



In reaching a decision on the scale of the building officers have taken into account the 
justification provided by the applicant, which is considered reasonable, and the impact 
the height of the building would have on the wider landscape surrounding the site. 

The applicant has stated that the increased height of the building allows for a bulk trailer 
to be tipped without the moving for shunting into the yard reducing the need for vehicles 
to move in and out multiple times (reducing the bleeper noise) and minimising the risk of 
accidents. In addition, the increased height of the building allows for reduced wagon 
movements into the farm overall in relation to chicken feed deliveries with on average 4 
less wagon movements per month. This would equate to 48 less vehicle movements a 
year. The larger wagons deliver between 8am and 10pm.

The proposed building would be seen as a whole with the existing buildings on the site 
with the external appearance matching existing buildings. Officers do not consider the 
scale of the building would alter the landscape character of the area or result in a poor 
standard of residential amenity to properties within the village.    

Heritage Issues

The two storey farmhouse that lies to the west of the application site is a Grade II Listed 
Building. 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states 
“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the 
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.” 

The Council therefore has a duty to have a special regard on developments which may 
affect the character or setting of the listed building. The Listed Building lies to the west of 
the agricultural building at a distance of approx. 62m. The Listed Building sits set back 
from the highway with a separate access from that which serves the existing farmstead. 
There are some existing trees along the west boundary of the fence that provide some 
screening to the building. The applicant has provided a landscaping plan that shows the 
existing trees are to be retained with new trees and planting proposed to break up the 
existing views of the building. The implementation of the landscaping works can be 
secured via condition.  

The principle of allowing a building of this external appearance and materials in this 
location has been accepted by the granting of the 2012 application. However, the height 
of this building was approved at 9.27m to ridge, resulting in the overall height at the 
highest point been 4.93m higher in part. The impact on the setting of the Listed Building 
is therefore reflective of the increased height. Taking into consideration the issues 
discussed above officers are satisfied that the proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Building.

The proposal would benefit from an improved health and safety working arrangements on 
the site along with a reduced number of vehicles in association with the chicken 
production on site. In weighing up the benefits of the proposal officers consider these 

Page 81



outweigh the slight harm to the setting of the listed building and does not warrant a 
refusal on this ground. 

In terms of impact on the heritage asset officers consider the proposal to be acceptable 
and in line with Policy S27 and paragraph 196 on the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have no 
local financial considerations. 

Conclusion

Officers consider the design and appearance of the building to be acceptable and in line 
with those normally found on working farms. The building is sited on the footprint of the 
previous buildings that were destroyed by fire. In terms of the scale, although officers 
acknowledge at 14.4m in height the building is nearly 5m higher in part than previous it is 
considered that a full justification has been submitted with the application to demonstrate 
the need for the proposed height. The harm to the setting of Listed Building will be less 
than substantial and outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. 

Page 82



Annex 1

Conditions/reasons

Time limit

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
D.01 Floor Plan
D.02 Elevations
D.03 Site Plan
D.04 Location Plan
PMF-WW-01 Landscape Plan
Application Form Section 9 - Materials
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to 
the scheme are properly considered.

Post commencement 

2. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved landscaping 
scheme Drawing Number PMF-WW-01A received 4 July 2018 shall be carried 
out in the first planting season following this approval and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with other similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

Page 83



 
Proactive Statement

Retrospective applications 

The Local planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining the 
application and averting the potentially necessity and expediency for pursuit of 
enforcement proceedings. The proposal was assessed against all material planning 
policies and representations that may have been received and subsequently determining 
to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Notes to Applicant:

Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0400

Proposed 
Development:

Erection of detached dwelling and garage

Location: North Scape
Eaglesfield
Cockermouth

Applicant: Mr John Wedgwood

Recommendation: Grant permission

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle When applying the NPPF’s tilted balance, the development is 
within a sustainable location, impacts do not significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefit of a family home

Siting Well related to the settlement  limit and surrounding buildings

Design/Scale The dwelling is considered appropriate scale and massing for the 
plot

Drainage Foul to main sewer and surface water to rainwater harvesting 
system

Residential Amenity No significant harm to nearby properties 

Parking Level of parking and turning is considered to be satisfactory

Access Although substandard, not meeting the requirements of the 
Highway Authority, acceptable visibility splays can be achieved 
given the low levels of traffic using this minor section of highway.

Proposal

The application seeks detailed permission for the erection of a single, split level, three 
bedroomed dwelling.

Site

The site is located centrally within the village. The neighbouring property, closest to the 
application site, is a bungalow which at present is in the applicant’s ownership, with two-
storey dwellings at a lower level to the north and dwellings to the west, set at a more 
elevated position than the site.  The site is opposite the former Black Cock public house 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



which has recently been converted into two residential properties.

The site is defined by post and wire fences and railings along the northern, western and 
southern roadside frontages above a low sandstone wall and the eastern boundary to the 
plot is adjacent to the boundary of the existing bungalow and garage. 

To the north of the site is an unclassified road which would be the main access point of 
the development.  A further highway runs to the south of the site. To the north and west 
the site there are a number of residential properties separated by the highway.

Relevant Planning History

2/2018/0164 – Erection of dormer dwelling on opposite (eastern ) side of Northscape 
approved 

Representations 

Dean Parish Council (incorporating Eaglesfield)

 The top two photographs within the application do not show the intended site. 
 The Ecological Statement is incorrect. The northern boundary of the village of 

Eaglesfield is Barkers Meadow, not Beckside.
 There are two known watercourses within 200m of the proposed site. One is 

partially piped/open along the south (front) of Beckside - hence the name. The 
other is a covered watercourse within the grass verge alongside this site to the 
north west opposite the dwellings known as Annie’s Cottage and Black Cock 
Cottage, formerly the Black Cock pub. This watercourse is fed from the natural 
spring on the village green.

 There are numerous telephone wires and electricity cables crossing over the site - 
have the appropriate authorities been consulted?

The Parish Council urges ABC Development Panel to make a site visit to view the site 
from all angles to fully appreciate the elevations.  The Parish Council has concerns over 
the size and height of the proposed dwelling and we believe its position in relation to 
nearby dwellings could conflict with S32 "Safeguarding Amenity" within the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) in that it may have an unacceptable effect on residential amenity and 
surrounding land uses in terms of loss of privacy as a result of overlooking. The change 
to the appearance of this area at the heart of Eaglesfield village could also be considered 
to have a detrimental effect on the local area in terms of visual amenity, distinctive 
character or environmental quality. We also have concerns regarding possible flooding 
and disturbance of a constantly flowing natural watercourse.

Questions are raised in terms of the land ownership for part of the site as the land to the 
north of the site is included within the applicant’s red line; however, the land ownership 
plan from the land registry indicates that the land is not within the applicant’s control.

Page 88



United Utilities

No objections subject to foul and surface water being drained on separate systems and 
surface water should be drained in terms of the drainage hierarchy.

ABC Environmental Health 

Initially requested a desk top survey and construction management plan. However, 
evidence suggests that, given the nature and distance of potential contaminants (former 
burial ground 200m away), it would not be required.   

Natural England 

No comments

Minerals Planning Authority 

No objections

Cumbria County Highways/LLFA 

Visibility for the suggested access is restricted and, if the middle plot will be sold, then 
required visibility would be unachievable. My suggestion was to create access on the 
other side of the plot where visibility is easy achievable. I haven’t heard anything back as 
yet to my last response 20.09.2018. In addition there is a stream running on the west 
side of the plot – it is not mapped on our system but ,while I was at the site it is clearly 
there. Neighbours comments confirm that. Water Consent will be required if any works 
will be done to the watercourse or close to it.

To summarise, I haven’t received enough details from the applicant/agent to be able to 
provide full response hence I would recommend refusal on the grounds that:
Inadequate information has been submitted to satisfy the Local Planning Authority
that the proposal is acceptable in terms of:

a) Access
b) Visibility splays
c) Surface water drainage
d) On-site turning facilities

The application has been advertised on site and adjoining neighbours have been 
notified. There has been 19 letters of objection from 12 individuals.

The objections relate to the following points

a. Form of Development

(i) Over development of the site
(ii) Scale considered to be inappropriate
(iii) Two/three story dwelling on the highest part of the site and higher than 90% 

of present surrounding houses

Page 89



(iv)The development does not contribute to the character of the village
(v) Not in keeping with the existing built development in terms of form and 

design
(vi)The building would dominate the skyline
(vii) Visual impacts
(viii) Elevated nature of the site

b. Highways issues

(i) Dangerous access
(ii) Access onto narrow lane
(iii) No way to turn a vehicle out of a steep drive without affecting any vehicles 

already parked
(iv)The highways authority have recommended that the application is refused
(v) Believe the access area is council owned land and not owned by 

Northscape (the one time owner of the public house paid rent to the parish 
for that area)

(vi)Congestion with existing driveways
(vii) Increase in general congestion on the narrow road
(viii) The new access would cause parking issues

c. Drainage

(i) The application does not take into account of the water courses nearby and 
to the front of the site in the highway/verge

(ii) There is an underground watercourse running from northwest and routing 
under Village Green, Spring Bank, hence name of this property, flowing 
adjacent and with high potential to route beneath proposed development, 
being disturbed by the required significant excavation.

(iii) Aforementioned watercourse feeds into an open watercourse running 
parallel and directly to front elevation of Beck Side properties, this is the 
most significant watercourse within the village and cannot be ignored, as it 
has been within this and previous application.

d. Policy considerations

(i) S4 Design Principles: Is it visually attractive and of appropriate scale and 
appearance, no it is not.  Will it integrate into the character of the village, no 
it will not.

(ii) S5 Development Principles: The scale and design detracts from the 
character of the site/village. Car parking and access are not suitably 
arranged, as access is on a narrow lane, not a road.

(iii) S29 Construction of Building: This may affect underground watercourse.
(iv)S32 Safeguarding Amenity: This proposal should not be supported due to 

the property overlooking the opposite cottages and constitutes an 
'overbearing' development, therefore there will be a loss of sunlight/daylight 
due to the 'overshadowing' of a three story building upon these cottages.

(v) DM12 Standards of Good Design: This proposed new development does 
not consider the impact on existing properties at the boundaries of the site. 

Page 90



It does not consider the existing building heights. It does not consider 
appropriate vehicular access on this narrow lane

e. Other Issues

(i) Loss of views
(ii) Loss of light
(iii) Ecological statement is inaccurate
(iv) Inaccurate plans/sections
(v) The proposed access to the garages will cut across established grass 

verges with trees, flowers etc, on a piece of land that has always been 
known to belong to the parish/local council as they cut the grass along 
there. Can an applicant of a proposed plan simply 'claim' any piece of land 
they wish?

(vi)Concerns relating to work during the building process
(vii) impinge on the quality of life of residents in the area
(viii) Lack of notification
(ix)  Issues disturbance from with existing work on renovation of Northscape

Development Plan policies 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 

        Saved settlement limits 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014

        Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
        Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
        Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
        Policy S4 - Design principles
        Policy S5 – Development principles 
        Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market  
        Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
        Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity 
        Policy S33 - Landscape 
        Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity 
        Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
        Policy S27 Heritage assets

Other material considerations

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2018)

Page 91



Policy weighting
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 

regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the settlement 
limits from the 1999 Plan and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies 
have primacy in decision making.

A material consideration is the provisions of the updated NPPF. Paragraph 47 of the 
NPPF advises that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations dictate otherwise. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF advises that 
weight can be afforded to emerging plans, that weight dependent on the stage of 
preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and consistency with the provisions of 
the Framework. 

The overall aim of the NPPF and its core planning principles is to achieve 
sustainable development through strengthening the economy whilst supporting the 
needs of the community and protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic 
environment. 
In line with the NPPF, the Council is committed to take a positive approach in the 
determination of planning applications and will always seek to approve proposals 
unless material adverse effects would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits (Policy S1).

A material consideration, especially in the local context, is the appeal decision for land at 
Little Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the 
weighting afforded to development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 
of the former NPPF.
In the decision for this appeal the inspector commented that we are now within the 
medium term of the 2014 Local Plan’s delivery period. Within this time it was expected 
that new allocations, within part 2 of the Local Plan and beyond the 1999 settlement 
limits, would come forward for delivery to meet the planned housing delivery trajectories. 
 However, the allocations are at a pre-submission stage that cannot be afforded 
meaningful weight in the development management process; the emerging Local Plan is 
not anticipated to be adopted until 2019.  The significant contributions to housing supply 
anticipated from allocated sites have therefore not yet come to fruition. Other housing 
sites, including on land outside of the 1999 settlement limits, need to come forward to 
meet the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan’s medium terms growth objectives. 

Although the Inspector’s decision predated the publication of the 2018 NPPF, 
comparisons of paragraph 14 of the 2012 version and paragraph 11 of this latest 
publication reveal that it is only rational to still afford significant weight to the decision as 
a material consideration. 

Consequently, for these reasons, the settlement limits from the 1999 Local Plan are out 
of date as are policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to the extent where they 
refer to the 1999 settlement limits and the housing numbers for each settlement. As a 
consequence little weight is afforded to the settlement limits and these parts of policies 
S3 and S5. The provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2018 are therefore engaged and 

Page 92



the “tilted balance”. Specifically, the principle should only be resisted if any adverse 
impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole

However, this does not mean to say that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date 
and should not be afforded substantial weight where they are consistent with the 
provisions of the NPPF 2018. In this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy 
within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the 
sustainability principles of the NPPF 2018 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. Other 
polices within the Part 1 Local Plan also maintain their full weight.

Assessment

Principle of the development 

Under the local plan’s designation of Eaglesfield as a limited growth village (policy S3 
applies), it is expected that there would be further residential development within the 
village in contributing to the Borough’s future housing supply.

The site is considered to be  well related to the settlement as it acts as a continuation of 
the line of the existing dwelling  “Northscape “and the approved dormer bungalow 
dwelling 2/2018/064 on this small island of land within the overall village envelope. 
Indeed the plot is bordered on three sided by existing residential development. The 
principle of a single dwelling is also commensurate in scale with Eaglesfield status as a 
limited growth village.

The benefit of providing a single dwelling is afforded weight in the overall tilted balance.

Design, visual and landscape impact

These are relevant considerations in policies S4, S5, S33 of the Local Plan Part 1.

To a limited degree the site fulfils a role, visually, as a village greenspace. However, it is 
private with no public access and could be enclosed if the owner exercised their minor 
operations permitted development rights. As such, given this context and the limited area 
of the site, this consideration is afforded little weight. 

Nevertheless, the site is prominent within the centre of the village and currently open in 
character. This prominence is accentuated by the location flanked by roads and the 
openness is characterised by the lack of landscaping or buildings. The roads are 
sensitive visual receptors.   

In response, the proposal’s split level design seeks to integrate the proposal into the 
sloping contours on the site, working with rather than against the topography. This 
strategy effectively reduces the massing, despite two storeys of accommodation being 
offered. Indeed, the overall heights has been educed following the submission of 
amended plans, from 10.45m (height from road level to ridge) to 8.3m.

Page 93



The amended house type is of a modern design and materials and it is considered to be 
compatible with other modern dwellings within the locality and on the adjacent site and 
has encompassed some more traditional features found on properties within the village. 
As such it will assimilate into this prevailing character and built landscape.  Officers are 
satisfied that the design and scale of the development and would comply with policies S4 
and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan in terms of Design given the property is located 
within an area of modern and traditional properties.

Residential Amenity

Policies S5 and S32 of the Local Plan are relevant. 

The site is elevated from the properties to the north with the finished floor level being 
approximately 3m higher than Meadow View which is the nearest dwelling. Therefore, it 
is considered that a dwelling with first floor accommodation with the roof space is 
acceptable as this solution minimises any overbearing impacts on nearby properties.  
It is also noted that the proposed dwelling is set back further into the site than the 
adjacent property and would be a similar height as the existing single storey property.

The property is elevated from the dwellings to the north and neighbouring properties 
have objected on the grounds that the dwelling would cause overshadowing and a loss of 
light.  

The separation distance between the proposed dwelling and the existing dwelling 
Meadow View is 13.5m at its nearest point and 18m from the properties Black Cock 
Cottage and Annie’s Cottage (recently converted from the Black Cock Public House).  
Although the site is elevated, the new dwelling would be a similar height to the existing 
property adjacent and the proposals windows on the northern elevation have been 
removed from habitable rooms to prevent overlooking; the separation distance is 
considered to be adequate to prevent any overshadowing or loss of light from the existing 
properties to the north of the site.   

It is considered that there would be no more overlooking than the existing situation given 
the garden/parking areas are visible from the highways and adjacent dwellings.  The 
development is considered to comply with policy S32 of the Allerdale local plan in terms 
of safeguarding residential amenity.

Highways Issues

The site would be accessed off an unclassified road which serves a number of residential 
properties.  The access and parking to the proposed dwelling is new and includes a 
turning area to allow for cars to enter and leave the site in a forward gear.  A splay of 
35m to the west can be achieved and 22m to the east the highways authority indicated 
that splays of 45m should be achieved in order to achieve satisfactory visibility splays.

Although the visibility splays do not meet the requirements of the highway authority the 
road is of a minor nature and vehicular speeds are observed to be less than the 

Page 94



mandatory 30mph speed limit. The use of the access for the development is not 
considered to compromise highway safety significantly or severely as advised by the 
NPPF where maximum speeds achievable are proportionally low.

There is adequate parking within the site for the dwelling and the site levels are to be 
lowered to make parking, turning and access to the garages easier.

The highways authority have indicated that the land not included within the applicant’s 
ownership is most likely to be part of the highway verge given the land is not registered to 
the applicant, council or parish.

Ecology

The site is a paddock area with little in the way of features that would be suitable habitat 
for protected species.  The development is not considered to have any significant 
impacts on ecological issues.

Drainage

The foul and surface water would be drained on separate systems, the application 
documents indicate that the surface water drainage would be to a rainwater harvesting 
system. Given the limitations of the site a rainwater harvesting system is considered to 
be acceptable. 

Officers are aware of the watercourses in the area and it is not anticipated that the 
development would affect the watercourse within the highway/verge or wider area.  A 
note to applicant can ensure that if any works that would affect the watercourse are 
notified and appropriate permission is sought from the relevant authority.

Heritage 

There is a Grade II listed building Croft Foot Farm to the south east. The application has 
been considered in the context of the duty under s66 of the Listed Buildings Act 1990. 
The separation distance and intervening development as well as the lack of historical 
connection between the two sites means that the setting is not affected. As such, the 
development was not considered against the duties under s66 of the Listed Buildings Cat 
1990 or publicised as affecting the setting.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the following local 
financial considerations are relevant to the determination of the application.

There will be benefits arising from the scheme through the New Homes Bonus scheme 
and Council Tax Revenue. It is considered this is of little weight in judging the overall 
planning merits of the current scheme.

Conclusion

Page 95



The proposal has been considered against the provisions of the development plan in the 
first instance with the NPPF afforded some limited weight as a material consideration. In 
this context the location, scale, design and materials are considered to be satisfactory 
and there would be no significant harm to neighbouring properties. Therefore approval is 
recommended.

Page 96



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

Time limit

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

Approved plans compliance

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
IMW228749 Rainwater Harvesting Tank Details
05001 Rev 05 Proposed Elevations Sheet 1 - Amended plan received 16 
November 2018
05002 Rev 6 - Proposed Elevations Sheet 2 - Amended plan received 16 
November 2018
Site Location Plan - Amended plan received 26 September 2018
05010 Rev 03 - Site Section as Proposed - Amended plan received 23 
November 2018
04003 Rev 07 Block plan - Amended plan received 23 November 2018
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

Prior to commencement

3. Notwithstanding the proposed submitted levels, prior to works commencing 
on site, details of proposed levels including levels of any paths, drives and 
parking areas and external finishes of any associated retaining walls shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved works.
Reason: To ensure that works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interest of visual amenity.

Following initial commencement 

4. The development hereby approved shall not be constructed above plinth 
level until the details of the: 
(i) Proposed crossings of the highway verge and/or footway ;
(ii) Surfacing in porous bituminous or cement bound materials; 
(iii) Access drive gradient 
(iv) Surface water drainage measures to prevent surface water 

discharging onto or off the highway;
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 

Page 97



The works shall be implemented and maintained operational at all 
times thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of verge crossing and that the verge is 
properly reinstated before the development is brought into use, to ensure that 
pedestrians can negotiate road junctions in relative safety, minimise the risk of 
flooding and in the interests of highway safety.

Prior to occupation 

5. The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until the vehicular 
access, parking and turning requirements have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved plan and have been brought into use. The 
vehicular access, parking and turning provisions shall be retained and 
capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning provision 
when the development is brought into use.

6. Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure/screen 
walls/fences/other means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the dwelling. Any 
such walls/fences etc shall be constructed prior to the approved building 
being brought into use/occupied. All means of enclosure so constructed 
shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of 
neighbouring properties.

Post occupation 

7. Only foul drainage shall be connected to the public sewer.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and minimise 
the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

8. There shall be no vehicular access to or egress from the site other than via 
the approved access, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

9. Access gates, if provided, shall be hung to open inwards only away from the 
highway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

10.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory Instrument revoking 
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development 
falling within Classes A, B, E of Part 1 of Schedule 2  and Class A of Part 2 of 

Page 98



the said Order shall be carried out without the prior written permission of 
the Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted to it.
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any proposed 
alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the site and safeguard 
the amenities of adjacent properties.

      Proactivity Statement 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by, primarily identifying relevant development plan policies, any duties 
applicable as well as other material considerations that have been afforded weight, 
including emerging Local Plan policy, stakeholder representations and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  In this context, having identified matters of concern 
with the application as originally submitted and, if applicable, following negotiations 
with the applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal have been 
received.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning 
permission for an acceptable proposal.

Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0485

Proposed 
Development:

Retrospective application for a raised lodge with balcony to be 
used for holiday letting purposes and addition of boundary 
treatment

Location: The Annexe
The Anville
Blitterlees
Silloth
Wigton

Applicant: Mrs Avril Kate Wickham

Recommendation: Grant permission

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle Considered to be acceptable

Design and 
materials

Considered to be acceptable

Amenity A satisfactory level of screening can be achieved to ensure to 
protect residential amenity.  The degree of overlooking not 
considered to be significant given the separation distances.

Access and Parking  Considered to be acceptable

Proposal

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the change of use of an existing annex to 
a holiday let. 

The application also seeks to regularise the development as built (see history).  The 
submitted plans indicate that the curtilage area currently serving the applicants property 
would have both a designated parking for the proposed holiday let and external amenity 
space, as well as a parking area and external amenity space retained for the host 
property. 

Site

The lodge building is located within the rear curtilage of a residential property, The 
Anville, at Blitterlees and is accessed through the existing highway access into the 
residential property.

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



Relevant Planning History

2/2016/0675 - Proposed demolition of existing detached garage and outhouse , new 
detached timber framed lodge building to provide granny annex-Approved 7/12/16

2/2018/0253 - Change of use of ancillary accommodation to allow holiday 
accommodation - Withdrawn

Representations

There has been two letters of representation which object on the following grounds:-

 The plans lack dimensions and are vague;
 The building was not built in accordance with the approved plans for the annex;
 Did not object to use the lodge as an annex;
 The lodge has its own postal address, concerns it could be sold off;
 The holiday use has already commenced;
 Loss of privacy (exasperated by removal of outbuildings);
 Loss of enjoyment of their property;
 Increased disturbance from comings and goings, noise;
 Annex is used by different, unknown people, changing every few days and 

destroys the seclusion and amenity of their property;
 The holiday use means that the balcony area is more likely to be used more 

frequently over longer periods;
 Concerns of being watched and photographs being taken when in their garden;
 Hedges have been removed opening up the views into the rear gardens;
 Object to the raised levels of the lodge;
 Object to the use of the balcony area;
 Mitigation can’t screen views from balcony;
 The 2.8m high fence would not mitigate the views from the balcony;
 Consider the balcony should be removed and lowered to the original approved 

position;
 A high fence will not withstand the winds and there will be difficulties installing the 

fence;
 Has separate utilities;
 Would not comply with Allerdale local plan policies specifically S4, S32 and DM15

Development Plan policies 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Page 104



Allerdale Local Plan 2014 Part1 

     Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
     Policy S3 – Spatial strategy and growth 
     Policy S5 – Development principles 
     Policy S17 - Tourism, Coastal and Countryside Recreation
     Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
     Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
     Policy S28 - Hadrian's Wall World Heritage Site
     Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
     Policy S31 - Reuse of rural buildings and replacement of dwellings in the   countryside
     Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
     Policy S33 - Landscape
     Policy S4 - Design principles  
     Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design

Other material considertaions 

National Planning Policy Framework 2018

Council Plan

Strengthening our economy 
 Encouraging tourism to help improve the local economy

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy. 

There are material considerations, including the NPPF and the Little Broughton appeal 
decision (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which affect the weight afforded to the 
1999 Local Plan settlement limits and policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to 
the extent where they refer to those settlement limits and the housing numbers for each 
settlement. Significant weight is still afforded to the hierarchy within policy S3 as this is a 
tool for robustly assessing the sustainability of a location. Other Part 1 Local Plan policies 
that are relevant are considered to have consistency with the NPPF and afforded full 
weight.

Page 105



Assessment

Introduction

The application site forms part of the applicant’s domestic curtilage. It contains the lodge 
which was erected as an annex to the main dwelling, “The Anville”.  Due to a change in 
circumstances the lodge is no longer required as an annex to the main dwelling.

The lodge was not built in accordance with the approved plans as it was raised above the 
approved levels and a small decked area added. Therefore, this application seeks to 
regularise the development as built and to change the use to allow the building to be let 
for holiday purposes.  The lodge contains a bedroom, lounge/kitchen/diner and a shower 
room and has a ramped access.

The lodge’s floor level is set approximately 1m above the ground level of the upper 
garden area which previously housed a garage/shed.  The lodge is connected into the 
services supplying The Anville which is acceptable.

Principle of Development

Policy S3 of the ALP (Part 1) sets the framework for development within the Borough. 
The majority of new development is directed towards the main towns and villages of the 
Borough, at a scale commensurate to their size and range of facilities.  The site itself is 
located within the settlement limits of Blitterlees which is a limited growth village and a 
sustainable location for growth. In this instance the amended proposal also benefits from 
being for a tourism use. Holiday accommodation is supported within the Allerdale Local 
Plan under Policy S17 and the lodge is considered to provide a suitable location to 
support visitors within the Solway Coast AONB and Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage site.
As significant weight is afforded to this consideration in the overall balance, then it is 
considered necessary and reasonable to restrict the use to a holiday use.

There is also limited employment provided by the development and this too can be 
afforded some limited weight as a benefit. 

Overlooking and residential amenity

These are considerations generically covered by policy S32 of the Local Plan. 

There are two changes from the original approval to consider here:-

i. Whether the holiday use changes the characteristics of the occupancy in 
such a way that has unacceptable consequences to amenity.

ii. Whether the increase in levels and addition of the external areas also 
impacts on amenity.

The adjoining dwellings have objected to the proposal in terms of overlooking and privacy 
issues.  The lodge has a window which looks directly into the garden area of Orchard 
Villa which is 10.45m from the boundary.  The applicant indicates that a fence would be 
erected to 2.8m in height on their side of the boundary which is lower in level than that of 
the neighbouring property. Officers consider that the fencing provides sufficient screening 

Page 106



to protect the amenity of the occupants of Orchard Villa as the fence height will reflect 
eye level of occupiers and would represent the height of the top of the window level. 

From the decking area partially obscured views from through sparse hedging can be 
gained into the rear of Blitterlees Farm.  Officers consider that a small section of solid 
screening erected to the decked area can prevent overlooking into this property.

A condition can ensure that the screening provided is maintained for the lifetime of the 
development.

The property adjacent to Orchard Villa to the north, Western Gales, has objected on the 
grounds of overlooking and loss of privacy as views of their garden can be obtained from 
the lodge and decked area.  Western Gales’ garden has been extended into a former 
agricultural field and wraps around the back of Orchard Villa to the corner of the host 
property.  The decked area is 30m from the nearest point of Western Gales’ rear garden.  
At a distance of 30m this is considered to be an acceptable separation distance. Orchard 
Villa and The Anville both look onto the Garden of Western Gales both from the garden 
areas and from the properties themselves.  The degree of overlooking into Orchard Villa 
and Western Gales is therefore not considered to be significant.

Finally, it is considered necessary to limit the occupation of the annexe to that controlled 
by the host dwelling given the juxtaposition of both. 

Having regard to Policy S32 of the ALP (Part 1), it is considered that residential amenity 
would be maintained to an acceptable level subject to screening provision. 

Landscape, heritage and visual impact 

The site is within the setting of Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site. However, it is noted 
that this area is characterised by domestic gardens and typical incidental development 
and chattels. There is also a modern large building to the northeast. In this context the 
harm to the setting of the WHS will be negligible and the proposal accords with policy 
S28 of the Local Plan Part 1.   

Access and Parking 

The proposed holiday let will be accessed via the established driveway serving the host 
property; this is of an adequate standard in terms of visibility and the Highways Authority 
has raised no concerns in this regard. The existing driveway is of a sufficient size to 
accommodate the additional parking. As such, the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in this regard, in accordance with policies S5, S22 and DM14 of the ALP (Part 
1).

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal would have 
financial implications in terms of Business Rates Revenue. This has not significant weight 
in terms of the determination of the application. 

Page 107



Conclusion

The development has been considered against the provisions of the development plan in 
the first instance as well as against all other material considerations. The holiday use can 
be supported and is afforded significant weight. The setting of the world heritage site is 
preserved with negligible harm.
Conditions are necessary in relation to screening and occupancy.

Page 108



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

Approved plans

1. Notwithstanding the requirements of conditions 2 and 3, the development 
hereby permitted is that show on the following plans:-

KW201aPL Proposed Site Block Plan Existing Site Location Plan
KW202aPK Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations
KW01bPL Parking Plan
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

Implementation within prescribed timescales

2. The approved boundary fencing details to the north eastern curtilage  
boundary as outlined on drawing KW201aPL shall be fully implemented 
within 3 calendar months of this permission and shall be retained at all 
times thereafter unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
dwellinghouses, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policies S4, DM14 and DM15 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

3. Within 3 calendar months of this permission a solid 1.8m high screening 
fence (measured from the floor level of  the decking) shall be erected along 
the entire southern western boundary of the decked area and shall be 
retained at all times thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
dwellinghouses, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policies S4, DM14 and DM15 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

  Occupancy conditions 

4. The conversion/caravan hereby approved shall be used for holiday let 
accommodation and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in 
Class C of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning [Use Classes] 
Order 2015), or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification.
Reason:  The Local Planning Authority have afforded significant weight to the 
benefits of holiday accommodation in the overall consideration of the development 
and would wish to examine the use of the building other than for holiday 
accommodation to assess whether it would be acceptable in terms of location, 
access and amenity, having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 109



5. The annex hereby approved shall not be used at any time as the sole or 
principal residence by any occupants.
Reason:  The Local Planning Authority have afforded significant weight to the 
benefits of holiday accommodation in the overall consideration of the development 
would wish to carefully examine the use of the building other than for holiday 
accommodation to assess whether it would be acceptable in terms of location, 
access and amenity, having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S12 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. A register of all occupants of the holiday accommodation hereby approved 
shall be maintained at all times and shall be made available for inspection 
by the Local Planning Authority within 10 days of a request. The register 
shall contain the name and address of the principal occupier together with 
the dates of occupation.
Reason:  The Local Planning Authority have afforded significant weight to the 
benefits of holiday accommodation in the overall consideration of the development 
and would wish to carefully examine the use of the building other than for holiday 
accommodation to assess whether it would be acceptable in terms of location, 
access and amenity, having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

7. The permission shall not be exercised other than by the occupiers of 
Anville, Blitterlees.
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the occupiers of Anville, 
Blitterlees and to accord with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, the development plan 
policies, any duties applicable and also all material considerations, including 
emerging Local Plan policy, the National Planning Policy Framework and any 
stakeholder representations that may have been received. It has subsequently 
determined to grant planning permission.  

Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0469

Proposed 
Development:

New field access to classified road (C2023)

Location: Land Adj
Ellenhall
Gilcrux
Wigton

Applicant: Mr J Lister

Recommendation: Grant permission

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Creation of access The agricultural access is considered acceptable from a highway 
perspective. 

Heritage issues The proposal will not result in a detrimental impact on the 
character of the Grade II Listed Buildings to the east of the site. 

Proposal

The applicant seeks consent to create a new field access in the classified road (C2023).

Site

The site is located some 600m north of the village of Gilcrux, and immediately west of the 
group of buildings at Ellenhall. On the south side of the road in this location is a red 
sandstone wall, which it is proposed to create the agricultural access within this wall. 
There is an existing access through this wall 15m to the northeast; this access is outside 
the application site and in a different ownership.   

Relevant Planning History

None relevant

Representations

Gilcrux Parish Council – No reply to date.

ABC Environmental Health – No objection to the proposed development.

Cumbria Highway Officers – The layout details shown on the submitted plan are 

Page 113

Agenda Item 11



considered satisfactory from a highway perspective. I can therefore confirm that the 
Highway Authority has no objection to the proposed development (29/10/18).

Cumbria Highways Officers – The response sent on 29 October from this Authority 
recommended approval for the new access on the basis that it was an improvement over 
the existing, as a result the proposed visibility splays at the new access are less than 
what we normally accept (but better than the previous).

If the applicant wishes to keep both we would recommend the applicant undertake a 
speed survey at the proposed point of access to ensure the visibility achieved is sufficient 
and compliant with our standards (28/11/18).

Cumbria LLFA – The LLFA do not have any records of flooding on this site and the 
Environment Agency (EA) surface water maps indicate that the site is in flood zone 3. 

The application has been advertised on site and in the local paper. No representations 
have been received to date.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
 
        Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
        Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
        Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
        Policy S4 - Design principles
        Policy S22 - Transport principles
        Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
        Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
        Policy DM15 - Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties

Other material considerations

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2018)

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy. 

Page 114



There are material considerations, including the NPPF and the Little Broughton appeal 
decision (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which affect the weight afforded to the 
1999 Local Plan settlement limits and policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to 
the extent where they refer to those settlement limits and the housing numbers for each 
settlement. However, these are of no relevance here and the Part 1 Local Plan policies 
that are relevant are considered to have consistency with the NPPF and afforded full 
weight.

Assessment 

Creation of Access

The proposal seeks permission for a new agricultural access which is required for 
agricultural purposes and road safety purposes. The new field gate will give access to a 
strip of land, 6m wide, which leads to a large field to the south.

To provide the required access it will result in removing approximately 5m of the existing 
sandstone wall and inserting a galvanised steel gate supported by steel gateposts. The 
top of the gate will be approximately level with the top of the wall. The proposed access 
gate will be similar in design to the existing gate to the east.

The applicant has detailed that the gate is needed to facilitate the management of cattle 
and sheep when they are moved to and from the large field to the south. Currently the 
field is accessed by an existing gate located in its north western corner, some 180m 
southwest of the proposed access. The location of this access is immediately inside a 
sharp bend in the highway, and is blind to traffic heading north out of Gilcrux. This 
creates a dangerous situation when handling animals. 

The proposed access will allow for safer handling of animals, its location outside of a 
shallow bend in the highway has good visibility in both directions and allows for safer 
manoeuvring on vehicles. 

The wall is set back 2.4m from the carriageway, and the existing verge is grassed, It is 
proposed to create a solid threshold in concrete in order to minimise the transfer of 
materials from the land onto the highway, this concrete will extend into the area 
immediately inside the gate. In order to prevent surface water running from the field and 
the concrete threshold into the highway, a soakaway drain will be created. 

The highways authority have detailed the need for the existing access to be closed from 
a highway safety perspective this can be secured via condition. 

The supporting text to policy DM6 advises in paragraph 352 that the policy aims to 
provide a positive planning framework for supporting development that supports 
traditional land-based activities. Development is required so that farming can sensitively 
respond to the changing usage of the countryside. Here the increase in use of the 
highway has led to a desire to improve highway safety and provide a new access. 
Significant weight is afforded to this as a benefit. 

Page 115



Heritage Issues

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states 
“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the 
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.” 

To the southeast of the proposed access is a two storey dwelling with attached barns. 
This property is a Grade II Listed Building with the rear elevation facing out onto the 
agricultural fields.  

The extensive barns attached to the dwelling have been converted into holiday let 
accommodation. To the rear of these conversion is a large black, metal sheeted 
agricultural building that lies between the application site and the Listed Building. To the 
northeast of the proposed access point is an existing field gate of similar size and design 
as proposed. The sandstone wall extends in both directions from the barns. 

The significance of the heritage asset is derived, in part, from some of the architectural 
detailing. However, much is also derived from the siting of the original barn and house 
together without a break in the roof line, echoing the vernacular ensemble referenced by, 
amongst others, Brunskill.1 This setting has been changed in more recent years by 
conversion of the later barn and, at some time in the twentieth century, by the erection of 
more modern structures. However, the agrarian character and overall appearance of a 
Cumbrian farmstead remains. The proposal will only serve to reinforce this setting given 
the intended use and appearance of the development.

The galvanised steel finish of the gate and posts is not a finish normally used. To reduce 
any impact form the gate the applicant has confirmed the gate will be finished in a matt 
dark grey. 

The loss of a small section of the sandstone wall and the installation of an agricultural 
gate with an appropriate finish as proposed by the applicant is considered acceptable 
and will not harm the setting of the Listed Buildings. 

In terms of impact on the heritage asset officers consider the proposal to be acceptable 
and in line with Policy S27 and paragraph 196 on the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will not 
result in any local financial consideration.
 

1 Brunskill, R. (1987). Vernacular architecture of the Lake counties. London: Faber and Faber.

Page 116



Conclusion

The proposal has been considered against the duty contained within s66 of the Listed 
Buildings Act 1990 as well as the policies of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. It is 
considered necessary to respond to highway safety issues and the current needs of the 
farm. It will preserve the setting of the listed building with the less than substantial harm 
outweighed by the benefits. 

Page 117



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

       Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. With the exception of the requirements of condition 3, the development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the following plans:

       18.26.LOC Site Location Plan
       18.26.SITE Rev A Site & Block Plan
       Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 

accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

3.    The proposed galvanised gate and posts should be finished in matt grey 
colour and texture prior to being installed and shall thereafter be retained in 
this finish. 

        Reason: In the interests of protecting the character of the Listed Building, in 
accordance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1), Adopted July 2014.

 
4.    Before the access is brought into use the existing access to the highway 

(marked green on the accompanying plan) shall be permanently closed and 
the post and wire fencing extended.

       Reason: To minimise highway danger.

Note to applicants:

No works and/or any person performing works on any part of the Highways, including 
verges, will be permitted, until in receipt pf an appropriate permit allowing such works. 
Enquiries should be made to Cumbria County Councils Streetwork’s team.

1) Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by, primarily identifying relevant development plan policies, any duties 
applicable as well as other material considerations that have been afforded weight, 
including emerging Local Plan policy, stakeholder representations and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  In this context, having identified matters of concern 
with the application as originally submitted and, if applicable, following negotiations 
with the applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal have been 
received.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning 
permission for an acceptable proposal.

Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122



Allerdale Borough Council
 

Reference No: 2/2018/0447 
Valid Date: 09/10/2018
Location: Former Cottage Hospital

Isel Road
Cockermouth

Applicant: McCarthy And Stone Retirement Lifestyles Ltd

Proposed 
Development:

Application for non compliance with condition 2 on planning 
approval 2/2017/0579. Changes to the apartment mix, changing 3 
No. one bed apartments to 3 No. two bed apartments. Slightly 
increase footprint, revisions to landscaping, to omit the sub-station 
on northern boundary. Removal of condition 22 regarding Fire Risk 
Strategy.

Recommendation: Grant permission 

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle Acceptable use for the locality. The principle of the apartment itself 
is not in question. This is a section 73 application to amend the 
approved 2/2017/0579 scheme. Where an application under 
section 73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a new planning 
permission, sitting alongside the original permission, which 
remains intact and unamended. The amendments proposed are 
considered minor material amendments.

Design, materials 
and siting

The minor amendment to the footprint of the apartments and the 
alterations to the elevations are considered acceptable. The 
design, materials and siting of development remains predominantly 
as originally approved under 2/2017/0579 and is deemed 
acceptable for this edge of town centre locality and near to the 
existing hospital and residential area

Access and 
parking

Acceptable visibility splays. 32 car parking spaces suitable layout 
and number for the retirement accommodation use.

Drainage  Foul drainage to mains. Surface water to be secured by planning 
condition following the sustainable hierarchy principles.

Ecology Acceptable mitigation for bats subject to planning condition as 
approved under 2/2017/0579.

Page 123

Agenda Item 12



Landscaping Acceptable landscaping scheme.  Maintenance can be secured by 
planning condition.

Proposal

The scheme was approved for the development of a new retirement living apartment 
scheme comprising 40 number one and two bed units with associated communal 
facilities under planning application 2/2017/0579 and this comprised of 22 x 1 bedroom 
apartment and 18 x 2 bedroom apartments

This section 73 proposal sets out minor amendments to the scheme to comprise of:

 A change to the apartment mix, changing 3 No. one bed apartments to 3 No. two 
bed apartments (located north east corner of west wing), and this includes a 
slightly larger footprint and associated scale on the elevation facing the public car 
park beyond the eastern site boundary (i.e. 19 x 1 bedroom and 21 x 2 bedroom 
apartments);

 Revisions to the landscaping details at the front of the development to improve 
accessibility and visual improvements around the area of the entrance and home 
owners’ lounge. This will enhance the sense of arrival and a more welcoming 
experience for both occupiers and any visitors;

 Extension to the second floor of the terrace adjacent the home owners’ lounge;

 2 No. access points to remain to Isel Road (refer to the landscape arrangement 
plan);

 Omission of the Sub-station on the northern boundary (not required after energy 
review), the subject land providing 2 additional parking spaces.

The reason for the changes are as a result of recent internal sales/marketing exercises, 
to address saleability and the perceived demand for two bedroomed apartments in this 
location. The extended footprint, is considered to comprise minimal differences from that 
which has been previously approved under 2/2017/0579 and the apartments remain 
arranged in 2 and 3 storey buildings and all units are to be open market units.

The proposed Retirement Living development is designed to support residents to 
maintain their independence but provides communal facilities and a House Manager. 
This is a specialised form of accommodation that the applicant advises is currently limited 
within Cockermouth. The applicant sets out the development promotes downsizing and 
encourages the more efficient use of existing housing stock.

The communal facilities include residents’ lounge areas and access to a roof terrace. An 
internal refuse room, a lift between floors facilitating ease of movement, a battery car 
store in the building and a secure entrance lobby with CCTV link to individual apartments 
are also proposed. There is an emergency help line available within each resident’s 
apartment and within communal areas to summon assistance in the event of an 
emergency.  There is also a guest suite comprising an en-suite twin bedroom for family 

Page 124



and friends to sleep over. There will be landscaped gardens, and sitting out areas.

Site

The site is on the northern fringes of Cockermouth and is bound to the north and west by 
Isel Road, beyond which are woodland and open fields.  Immediately to the south is the 
recently built Cockermouth Community Hospital and to the east of the study site an area 
of residential development.

The site is broadly rectangular in shape and slopes upwards gradually from south to 
north. The property forms a disused part of historic Cockermouth Cottage Hospital and 
contains a number of disused buildings of one and two storeys. There is consent for 
demolition of these buildings (2/2017/0588). The proposed site extends to approximately 
0.89 acres (0.36 hectares).

The town’s main shopping area is 400 metres to the south west via Castlegate and Main 
Street. Also in close proximity to the site is the sports and community swimming pool 
located opposite the newly built Primary Care Centre on Castlegate Drive.

Relevant Planning History

2/2017/0579 - 40 apartments approved.
 
2/2010/0062 - Temporary buildings. Approved

2/2013/0821 - Bat House. Approved

2/2013/0185 - 2/2013/0185 Variation of condition 4 on planning approval 2/2010/0062 to 
extend temporary consent

2/2010/0062 - To extend temporary consent. Variation of condition 4 on planning 
approval

22/2013/0739 - Notice of proposed demolition of existing cottage hospital buildings—
cancelled

2/2010/0523 - Development of a new two storey healthcare facility. (On neighbouring 
site) development includes on site car parking, external landscaping and demolition of 
small existing temporary storage building. Conditional Approval /2013/0767-Variation of 
condition 4 of 2/2010/062. Approved

Representations

Cockermouth Town Council  

Recommend approval 

Page 125



ABC Environmental Health 

No objections

Cumbria Highways/ LLFA 

No objection subject to conditions. The layout details shown on the submitted plan are 
considered satisfactory from a highway and Lead Local Flood Authority perspective. 
Confirm that the Highway Authority and LLFA have no objection to the proposed 
development.

Fire Officer 

No representations received to date.

Natural England 

The previous scheme response required mitigation measures (2/2017/0579); a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and a finalised surface water 
plan. This was to mitigate against any adverse effect on the integrity of the River Derwent 
and Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation and the potential to destroy or 
damage the interest features for which the River Derwent and Tributaries Site of Special 
Scientific Interest.

Bat roosts had previously been identified in the main building in the submitted presence/ 
absence survey, and foraging potential exists in the woodland that connects with the river 
immediately west of the proposal. Bats are a material consideration in the planning 
process, and a Natural England license has been required prior to demolition. The 
proposal for bat boxes and loft space for bat roosts, was welcomed.

Cumbria Wildlife 

No representations received

United Utilities 

No objection to the proposed development subject to planning conditions.

Cumbria Constabulary 

Refer to consultation response dated 18th January in respect of application 2/2017/0579. 
No further comments or observations to offer at this time. (Previous comments - The 
application demonstrates compliance with Policies S4 and DM14 of the Local Plan. The 
inclusion of ‘Community Safety’ (Item 5.0) of the submitted Design and Access Statement 
provides a wealth of information relating to the layout, boundary treatments, car parking 
arrangements, landscaping, exterior lighting and physical security measures - and 
subsequently displays the applicant’s commitment to the security and reassurance of 
residents).

Page 126



ABC Housing Services 

No comment.

Access Officer 

No objections

County Archaeologist  

No objections

Environment Agency 

No comments received as per planning application 2/2017/0579.

Individual/Other representations

The application has been advertised on site, within the local press and adjoining owners 
have been notified. No representations have been received to date.

Duties 

Section 66 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that 
when considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses. 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.  Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 state that competent 
authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any plan or project they 
intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect upon 
a European site. The permission may only be given if the plan or project is ascertained to 
have no adverse effect upon the integrity of the European site. If the competent authority 
wishes to permit a plan or project despite a negative assessment, imperative reasons of 
over-riding public interest must be demonstrated, and there should be no alternative to 
the scheme. 

Regulation 9 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 requires 
all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the 
exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a planning application for a 
development which may have an impact on European Protected Species ("EPS"), such 
as bats, great crested newts or otters.

Page 127



Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

        Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
        Policy S2 Sustainable Development Principles
        Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
        Policy S4 Design Principles
        Policy S5 Development Principles
        Policy S6 Area based
        Policy S7 A Mixed and Balanced housing Market
        Policy S8 Affordable housing
        Policy S10 Elderly Needs Housing
        Policy S27 Heritage Assets
        Policy S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
        Policy S30 Reuse of Land
        Policy S32 Safeguarding Amenity
        Policy S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
        Policy DM14 Standards of Good Design

Other material considerations

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2018)

Policy weighting 

Notwithstanding the duties outlined above, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for the 
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts, the determination 
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have 
primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the NPPF. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2018) 
advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can vary according to their 
degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

In this instance, the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies relevant to this site and proposal 
postdate and are consistent with NPPF and so full weight can be afforded to them. 

However, it is acknowledged that the saved settlement boundaries of the 1999 Plan are 

Page 128



pending review and delivery of the part 1 Local Plan’s strategic policies is predicated on 
development beyond these limits. As such the weight afforded to these limits is 
tempered.

Assessment

Introduction 

Section 73(2) of the 1990 Act states that “the local planning authority shall consider only 
the question of the conditions subject to which planning permission should be granted.”

The options open to this Authority are:-

A. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to different conditions to 
those previously imposed or it should be granted unconditionally, then permission 
should be granted accordingly.

B. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to the same conditions as 
previously imposed, then the s73 application should be refused. 

The principle of the development itself is not in question.

Where an application under section 73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a new 
planning permission, sitting alongside the original permission, which remains intact and 
unamended. Given that a new permission is being considered, then the determination 
must be made in the context of current development plan policies and material 
considerations. In that regard, whilst conditions 2 and 22 of the original permission are 
the focus of the applicant’s submission, the other conditions should be reviewed, albeit 
the Panel’s resolution must not fundamentally alter the proposal put forward in the 
original application. The review of the other conditions assesses whether they are still 
necessary, written in a way that is precise and enforceable, whether they are relevant to 
the development and planning and reasonable in all other respects.

Mixed and balanced housing market and elderly needs housing

ALP Policy S10 seeks to promote and encourage the delivery of elderly needs 
accommodation throughout the Plan Area. It continues by noting that the approach is in 
direct response to the issue of a rapidly ageing population across the Plan Area identified 
in the Local Plan evidence base.

ALP Policy S7 echoes this approach. The revised proposal still responds directly to both 
policies in a location of mixed housing stock; the provision of this development furthering 
the mix within this area. Policies S7 and S8 also advise of the need to maximise 
affordable housing and this omission was previously addressed in the viability section of 
the 2/2017/0579 report which established the principle of this apartment building with no 
affordable units. 

Visual and residential amenity 

This is addressed in policy DM14 of the Part 1 of the Local Plan. 

Page 129



Layout - The proposal for McCarthy & Stone builds on the footprint of the previous 
hospital building on site with 40 number 1 and 2 bedroom apartments in a 2 and 3 storey, 
T-shaped block.  It is set towards the southern and western part of the site with car 
parking and green space provided on the remaining site. This revised scheme modifies 
the scheme to include a modest increase in the footprint to the eastern car park elevation 
and an extended second floor to the western elevation into the resident’s roof terrace, the 
removal of the substation and modest alterations to landscaping and car park layout. The 
impact is deemed to be appropriate. 

Scale - The massing is slightly larger than previously approved but is considered 
acceptable in the context of the whole proposed building and will have no impact on 
adjacent residential dwellings or on heritage assets. This is due to the intervening 
distances between the proposal building and these features.

Appearance  - External materials comprise of grey artificial slate roofing, smooth through 
colour render, smooth through colour render contrasting window surrounds, grey uPVC 
windows and doors, 2 no. course of blue engineering brick plinth, glazed balustrade to 
juliet balcony, charcoal grey uPVC rainwater goods & downpipes, external steel framed  
balcony with glazed balustrades, flat roof terrace with masonry capped parapet wall & 
glazed balustrade, recessed  balcony with wall mounted Juliet balcony. The appearance 
has not materially changed from the previous permission.

Heritage 

The application site is located just outside the north-eastern boundary of the 
Cockermouth Conservation Area and is within the setting of Cockermouth Castle, a 
Scheduled Monument that incorporates a series of individually listed buildings and 
structures. Outside the Castle a small cluster of listed buildings is located on Castlegate, 
to the south of the application site. 

Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states 
that when considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, special regard should be had to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. Therefore, given the special statutory status of this material 
consideration, considerable importance and weight should be accorded to it. Policy S27 
of Part 1 of the Local Plan 2014 is also relevant and applicable.

The significance of these assets are derived from their own historical and architectural 
qualities; they occupy a promontory between the Rivers Cocker and Derwent, and there 
has been a castle since before 1221. The Hall dates from 1360, the Flag Tower 1387 
from and the Gatehouse was rebuilt circa 1400. There are full curtain walls and 2 wards 
within one of which sits the occupied Georgian buildings. The listing identifies the assets 
as enjoying a “fine setting” and certainly the prominence near to the river confluence near 
to the centre of the town means that a large degree of the significance of the assets is 
derived from this physical setting, the functional setting now confined to the immediate 
surrounds of the Castle.

In terms of impact, officers note that there is no direct interventions to the assets 

Page 130



themselves and their setting from key visual receptors to the north, west and south will be 
unaffected and, therefore, preserved. Indeed, the impact of the slightly increased 
footprint and scale of the proposal will be very much limited to the immediate environs of 
the application site itself and this impact is considered to be neutral in terms of the 
experience of the asset from these vantage points and the experience of the view from 
the Castle towards the application site.

The Cockermouth Conservation Area extends over a wide area, encompassing the town 
centre. There is no approved Conservation Area Appraisal that identifies the prevailing 
character and appearance of each sub-area of the asset. However, the significance of 
the asset is largely derived from the layout and street scenes of this town with its 
Georgian and Victorian facades, the rivers and their confluence and bridge  crossings 
and the higher ground occupied by the Castle, Church and parks. The setting of the area 
is important but the application site contributes relatively little to this setting and therefore 
the overall significance. The character and appearance will be preserved. 

A low/ nil potential was previously identified in the Archaeological Assessment for 
archaeological remains of all periods (previous approval 2/2017/0579).  The 
Cockermouth Castle and Tute Hill Motte Scheduled Monuments are located 
approximately 200m to the south west and south, respectively, of the study site and no 
further archaeological works are required on this site.

Overall, there is less than substantial harm to heritage assets from the revised scheme 
and the limited harm is outweighed by the public benefits of providing this type of homes 
in this sustainable location.

Access and Parking 

Criterion e) of policy DM14 of Part 1 of the Local Plan applies as do the principles of 
sustainable development in policy S2. The site is in a sustainable location and is 
accessible via public transport with nearby bus stops located on Castlegate Drive. 

Of the residual car-borne demands derived from this sustainable location, it is noted that 
the Retirement Living housing development can be satisfactorily accessed from the 
highway. This, albeit below the County’s parking standards the 32 on-site car parking 
spaces for 40 flats is satisfactory given that the age of the residents will likely reduce the 
level of car ownership and visitors and that there will be access to the town centre car 
parks. There are no objections from Cumbria Highways. 

It is considered that the traffic generated by the development will have no adverse impact 
upon the operation of the adjacent highway network. Visibility splays will also be 
maintained for the existing new hospital site. There are no objections from Cumbria 
Highways.

Landscaping 

This is addressed in policy DM14 of the Part 1 of the Local Plan. The landscaping plan 
provided is acceptable and provides an attractive shared amenity space for the 
apartments. The provision and ongoing maintenance can be secured by planning 
conditions which are recommended to be repeated in the new permission.

Page 131



Drainage 

Policy S29 of the Local Plan 2014 Part 1 applies. 

Foul Drainage will be disposed of to the mains as established under 2/2017/0579.

Surface water drainage will be disposed of via an attenuated surface water scheme to be 
secured by planning condition as established under 2/2017/0579.

Matters relating to the attenuation tanks, the hydro brake and surface water outfall can, 
again, be secured by planning condition. This will address matters relating to surface 
water flooding and provide mitigation against any potential for contamination from the 
surface water to the river Derwent which is the outfall point. With regard to the surface 
water arrangements that discharge to the River Derwent, the details submitted are not 
likely to have a significant effect on interest features of the River Derwent and 
Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of conservation SSSI and SAC.

Ecology and Pollution control

This is addressed in policy S35 of the Part 1 of the Local Plan 2014.
 
As established in the previous planning approval 2/2017/0579, following consultation 
between Allerdale Council and Natural England, a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) report was received; due to the proximity of two statutory 
designated sites, and the uncertainty of whether there could be likely significant impacts 
arising from the site’s drainage into the river Derwent. These were identified as being:
1. River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
2. River Derwent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)

Other potential impacts were also reviewed as requested, such as the control and
management of pollution prevention options including storage of materials, noise
reduction, fugitive dust, potential pollutants entering surface water drainage and
biosecurity control. The submitted CEMP as previously submitted under 2/2017/0579, 
remains relevant and acceptable and the mitigation measures can, again, be 
safeguarded by planning condition.

Bats - Mitigation as part of a bat licence has been proposed in the form of a bat loft 
above a car port as well as including a bat soffit box, and several bat boxes to be 
integrated into the new build see drawing Fig E3a and Fig E3b Mitigation Compensation 
Plans. This can be secured by planning condition as approved under 2/2017/0579.

The loft space above the car port will be used to create a new loft space suitable for
a maternity bat roost. The approximate dimensions of the loft space are 5 x 4 x1.5m to 
match the existing loft space used by Myotis mystacinus (maternity). The roof
will be pitched so that the South facing side is warmed, to mimic the existing roost, and 
positioned away from the building to avoid shadowing. Breathable roofing membranes 
will not be used. Instead, a bitumastic or hessian type lining will be utilised, and 
roughened wooden beams will be left exposed. Ground to ceiling height excluding the 
roof will be 2.6 metres. An inspection hatch will be included in the design.

Page 132



Four number Ibstock enclosed bat boxes will be incorporated into the structure of the 
wall, situated between 4-6m above ground facing South, West or East, ideally placed 
below the eaves.

Controlled Lighting - It is recommended reduced lighting/darkness zone where bat boxes 
are present. Use of light restriction measures throughout site where suitable. Officers 
considered that suitable mitigation was provided to pass the 3 licensing tests.

Community Engagement 

Pre application community engagement was undertaken with regard to the previous 
scheme 2/2017/0579 by the applicant in the form of contacting statutory bodies, one-to-
one stakeholder meetings, a public exhibition meeting and display, newsletter 
distribution, a dedicated website.

Viability

Local Plan Policy S8 Affordable Housing states: “the Council will seek to maximise the 
delivery of affordable housing. Within Key Service Centres housing development of 10 
dwellings or more will be required to make provision for 20% affordable housing. Given 
the level of need identified in the Cockermouth Housing Market Area provision will be 
made for 40% in this settlement.”

ALP Policy S8 however recognises that viability on schemes may be marginal and a 
flexible approach may be required. In those instances the developer must demonstrate 
the circumstances justifying a lower affordable housing contribution or a different tenure 
mix. This flexibility and the recognition of viability as a material consideration was 
considered in the approved scheme 2/2017/0579 and accepted. However, NPPF 2018 
Section 5 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes also addresses housing provision and 
paragraphs 61-64 of the NPPF 2018 are noted as particularly relevant. 

Paragraph 64 NPPF 2018 sets out that where major development involving the provision 
of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should expect at least 10% of the 
homes to be available affordable home ownership (as part of the overall affordable 
housing contribution from the site), unless this would exceed the level of affordable 
housing required in the area, or significantly prejudice the ability to meet the identified 
affordable housing needs of specific groups. Exemptions to this 10% requirement should 
also be made where the site or proposed development provides specialist 
accommodation for a group of people with specific needs for example the elderly. This is 
clearly relevant in this proposal.

The development economics of retirement development are also distinct from general 
needs housing development in several respects, which typically render policy compliant 
provision non-viable. 

In summary, it is officers’ advice that it is still not viable for the development to provide a 
financial contribution towards off-site local affordable housing.

Page 133



Fire Risk Strategy, and amongst other matters, the use of a sprinkler system.

Condition 22 of the 2/2017/0579 scheme was attached to the approved decision at a 
request by the Development Panel. Officer advice, however, is that this condition is not 
compliant with the NPPF 2018 6 tests as set out under Paragraph 55 NPPF 2018. 

The legislative power to impose conditions with planning permission are set out within 
Sections 70, 72, 73, 73A and Schedule 5 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
Moreover, Paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) state the 
following:

“Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed where they are 
necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, 
precise and reasonable in all other respects. Agreeing conditions early is beneficial to all 
parties involved in the process and can speed up decision making. Conditions that are 
required to be discharged before development commences should be avoided, unless 
there is a clear justification.”

As such, planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed where they 
are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, 
precise and reasonable in all respects.

Condition 22 stated:

“Prior to development commencing, details of the Fire Risk Strategy to include matters of 
external materials and cladding, construction techniques and sprinkler systems shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved details shall be fully 
implemented prior to occupation of the residential apartments and shall be maintained 
thereafter in accordance with the approved plans and Fire Risk Strategy.
Reason: In the interests of public and residents safety.”

The applicant has set out that Fire Risk is a matter for Building Regulations Legislation:
The building will be subject to a range of fire related Statutory Legislation, with the 
principal fire related considerations being the Building Regulations (2010) and the 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order (2005) (the ‘RRO’). 

Whilst the RRO principally relates to the on-going management of the building, to ensure 
effective fire safety management regimes are developed by the building occupier and risk 
assessments of the premises are conducted and updated on an on-going basis, in order 
to satisfy the functional requirements of the Building Regulations it is necessary for the 
design of the building to meet the requirements of Schedule 1 of the Regulations relating 
to:

– B1 (Means of warning and escape),
– B2 (Internal fire spread (linings)),
– B3 (Internal fire spread (structure)),
– B4 (External fire spread),
– B5 (Access and facilities for the Fire Service).

In England guidance on how to satisfy these functional requirements can be found in 

Page 134



Approved Document B (AD-B) Volumes 1 and 2, which provides guidance for some of 
the more common building arrangements.

There is no statutory requirement to provide sprinklers within the development in order to 
comply with the requirements of the Building Regulations and/or meet current fire safety 
design guidance documents applicable in England.

Notwithstanding the above standpoint and the decision to challenge the condition 
imposed, the applicant thought it prudent to give Members some comfort by 
commissioning a fire consultant to review the construction drawings in light of the 
planning condition. 

The final report was recently presented to the NHBC, with them confirming that the 
Building Regulations - Approved Document Part B (Fire Safety) Volume 2 does not 
require the installation of a sprinkler system for the building in this instance and that, 
subject to the detail design of the building and fire safety systems, it concluded that the 
proposals meet the Building Regulations requirements, without the provision of a 
sprinkler system.

In considering the six tests relative to the imposition of a fire risk strategy condition, to 
include a sprinkler system within the said retirement living building, it is considered that 
such a condition would not be necessary, relevant to planning, nor relevant to the 
development to be permitted.

Officers strongly advise that the condition must be omitted.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, the New Homes Bonus.

Conclusion

The proposed development has been assessed against the provisions of the 
development plan in the first instance as well as the duties contained within sections 66 
and 72 of the Listed Buildings Act 1990. The principle is considered acceptable and the 
layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access to the development as revised under 
this section 73 application are all appropriate. Overall, there is less than substantial harm 
to heritage assets and the limited harm is outweighed by the public benefits of providing 
this type of homes in this sustainable location. Matters relating to contamination and 
ecology can be secured by planning condition. Viability has been afforded significant 
weight and justifies the lack of affordable housing provision. 

The development is recommended for permission subject to planning conditions

Page 135



Annex 1

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
TPL 16-134-001.01 Transport Statement with Appendices 19.10.18
TPL 16-34-002.01Addendum to Transport Statement
Ground Investigation Report Phase 2 Part1 19.10.18
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey 19.10.18
Bat Presence - Absence Survey 19.10.18
Amendment Constructional Environmental Plan Rev 2 26.3.18
NE-2064-3.2-AC-06 Rev E - Proposed Context Elevations 
NE-2064-3.2-AC-07 Rev E - Detailed Elevations sheet 1of 2
NE-2064-3.2-AC-08 Rev D - Detailed Elevations sheet 2 of 2
NE-2064-3.2-AC-01Rev A - Site Location and Context Plan 5.9.18
NE-2064-3.2-AC-02 Rev D - Proposed site plan  19.10.18
NE-2064-3.2-AC-10 - Proposed Floor Plans Rev C 5.9.18
NE-2064-3.2-AC-051 Rev D Detail Elevation
NE-2064-3.2-AC-052 Rev C Detail elevations 
NE-2432-04-LA-01 General Arrangement plan 5.9.18
NE-2432-04-LA-03 Rev G Cockermouth Detailed Landscape Plan 5.9.18
NE-2064-03-DE-001  Rev B - Drainage Strategy 16.1.18
NE-2064-3.2-AC - 11-Boundary Treatment Plan 15.12.17
Biodiversity Plan - Cockermouth Cottage Hospital 16.1.18
Fig E3a Mitigation Compensation plan 17.4.18
Fig E3b Mitigation Compensation plan 17.4.18
NE-2064-3.2-AC-18 Carport and bat roost Rev A 17.4.18
Constructional Environmental Plan
Amended Constructional Environmental Plan 10.4.18 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The vehicular crossing over the footway, including the lowering of kerbs, shall 
be carried out to the specification of the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority.
Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of crossing for pedestrian safety.

4. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/ developer to prevent 
surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. 
Any approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being 
completed and shall be maintained operational thereafter.

Page 136



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

5. The approved surface water scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the 
occupation of any of the apartments hereby approved in accordance with 
drawing number ref: NE-2064-03-DE-001 Revision B 2/1/18 Drainage Layout. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and minimise the 
risk of flooding in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies 
S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. Prior to the occupation of the development a sustainable drainage 
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a 
minimum:

(a) Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident's management 
company; and

(b) Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. The development shall subsequently 
be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the approved 
plan.
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the sustainable 
drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution during the 
lifetime of the development. This condition is imposed to accord with policy DM14 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

7. Only foul drainage shall be connected to the public sewer.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and minimise the 
risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

8. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Phase Traffic 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of:

• pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a 
Highway Authority representative; with all post repairs carried out to the 
satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority at the applicants expense;

• details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
• retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for 

their specific purpose during the development;
• cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
• details of proposed wheel washing facilities;
• the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 

deposit of any materials on the highway;
• construction vehicle routing;
• the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and 

other public rights of way/footway.

Page 137



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management and to 
accord with policy DM14 of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan Part 1 2014. 

9. All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved landscaping plans ref: 
NE-2432-04-LA-03 Rev G Cockermouth Detailed Landscape Plan 5.9.18 and 
NE-2432-04-LA-01 General Arrangement plan 5.9.18. The approved scheme 
shall be fully implemented within the first planning season following the 
occupation of the apartments approved and any trees or plants which within a 
period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality to accord with policy DM14 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10. A landscaping management plan including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
areas, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the occupation of any apartment or any piece of the development, 
whichever is the sooner, for its permitted use. The development shall 
thereafter be maintained at all times in accordance with the approved 
management plan.
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of shared open 
space within the development to accord with policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

11. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays providing 
clear visibility of 2.4 x 43m metres measured down the centre of the access 
road and the nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at 
the junction of the access road with the county highway in accordance with 
drawing NE2064-3.2-AC-02 Rev D Proposed Site Plan 19.10.18. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

12. The land use hereby approved shall not be occupied until the vehicular 
access, parking and turning requirements have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved plans ref: NE-2064-3.2-AC-03 LA 01A 16.2.18 
and NE2064-3.2-AC-02 Rev D dated 19.18.18 and have been brought into use. 
The vehicular access, parking and turning provisions shall be retained and 
capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered 

Page 138



without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning provision 
when the development is brought into use.

13. The Bat works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the mitigation 
and recommendations outlined in the recommendations 7. Bat Presence 
Absence Survey. 
Reason: To safeguard the habitat of protected species in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 and DM17 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  

14. The bat mitigation shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation 
measures specified within Fig 3a Mitigation compensation plan 17.4 18 and 
Fig 3b Mitigation Compensation plan 17.4.18 and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding ecological interests during the construction 
works of the development hereby approved, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

15. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary are carried out to 
establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works 
for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to their commencement.
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

16. Should land affected by contamination be identified under condition 16 
following site investigations which poses unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall take place 
until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an 
appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description 
and programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

17. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 17, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development 
(or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.

Page 139



Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

19. Boundary treatments shall be erected and  retained thereafter in accordance 
with the drawing number NE-2064-3.2-AC - 11-Boundary Treatment Plan 
15.12.17
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance 
with Policy S32 Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) adopted July 2014.

20. All external facing or roofing materials shall be in built in line with approved 
plans.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance 
with Policy S32 Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) adopted July 2014. .

21. Demolition and construction works shall be carried out strictly in accordance 
with the approved amended Constructional Environmental Plan 10.4.18.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014 and to safeguard residential amenity in accordance with Policy S32 Allerdale 
Local plan (Part 1) adopted July 2014 and in the interests of safeguarding ecological 
interests during the construction works of the development hereby approved, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014..

Proactive Statement

Application Approved Without Amendment

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, the development plan 

Page 140



policies, any duties applicable and also all material considerations, including 
emerging Local Plan policy, the National Planning Policy Framework and any 
stakeholder representations that may have been received. It has subsequently 
determined to grant planning permission.  

Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 144


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Development Panel- HOU/2018/0161 43 Curzon Street, Maryport- Replacement windows and doors
	6 Development Panel- 2/2017/0246- Land East of Main Road, High Harrington- Construction of 115 residential dwellings with associated parking, access and landscaping
	7 Development Panel- 2/2018/0097 Langrigg Hall, Langrigg- Change of use of farm building to biomass CHP unit with associated chimneys (retrospective)
	8 Development Panel- 2/2018/0098 Langrigg Hall, Langrigg- Erection of replacement general purpose shed (retrospective for its retention)
	9 Development Panel- 2/2018/0400 North Scape, Eaglesfield, Cockermouth- Erection of detached dwelling and garage
	10 Development Panel- 2/2018/0485 The Annexe, The Anville, Bliterlees, Silloth- Retrospective application for a raised lodge with balcony to be used for holiday letting purposes and addition of boundary treatment
	11 Development Panel- 2/2018/0469 Land adj Ellenhall, Gilcrux- New field access to classified road (C2023)
	12 Development Panel- 2/2018/0447 Former Cottage Hospital, Cockermouth- Application for non compliance with condition 2 on planning approval 2/2017/0579. Changes to the apartment mix, changing 3 No. one bed apartments to 3 No. two bed apartment

